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Independent Auditor’s Repont

Yo the Sharchokders and Managemant. Board of Yapi Kreal Bani Azertsallan GJSC:
Our opinion

In owr opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
CJSC “Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan” (the “Bank”) as at 31 December 2021, and the Bank's financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Bank's financial statements comprise:

« the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

+ the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
= the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

» the noles 10 the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and olher
axplanatory information.

Basis fou OpIricn

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (15As). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our repon.

We believe thal the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independance

We are independant of the Bank in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountanis {including Internaticnal Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Coda). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial

slatements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Siandards, and for such infernal control as
rranafemant detarmines i necassary to enable the preparation of financial siatlements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statemants, management is responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 1o going concemn and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liguidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative bul to do s0.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank's financial reporling process.

PriceraslerhousaCospars Audil Axarbaijan LLC
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Auditors responzibilities for the audit of the financtal siatements

Ouwr objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statemenis as a whole
are free from material misstaternent, whether due (o frawd or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, bul is not a guarantee that
an audit conducied in accordance with 15As will always datect a material missiaterment whan it axists,
Misstatements can arise from frawd or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken an
the basis of ihese financial statemants.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional sceplicism throughout the audit. We also;

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due io
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures respoensive to those risks, and obiain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of ol
detecting a material misstatement resulling from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, of the override
of internal control,

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order fo design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal coniral.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management,

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence cbtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to evenis
ar conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncerainty exists, we are required to draw attenfion in cur auditor's
repart to the related disclosures in the financial staterments or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
cur auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease 1o
continue as a going ConcErm.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial stalements represent the underlying fransactions and
events ina manner thal achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other mallers, the planned scope and
fiming of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our awdi.

.'r'.\, 1 !
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pudit frecoujom LLE

Baku, the Republic of Arerbaijan
29 April 2022



Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Statement of Financial Position
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaliani Manats)

Hotes 41 December 31 December
2021 2020
ASSETS
Cash and cash eguivalents 7 202 924 183,540
Investments in debl sacurilies 10 13,505 23,098
Amounls due from credi instiutions i 2238 11,480
Loans to customers 9 148,579 125683
Froperty and eguipmant 11 29 4,102
Intangible assels 12 7.189 TB77
Right of use assets 13 11,295 5012
Mher assals 15 8047 T.B35
TOTAL ASSETS 417,826 368,305
LIABILITIES
Amounts due to credd msFHutions 16 20,207 11.972
Amounts due o cusiomers 17 288 424 243 557
Dafermrad income tax liabilities 14 2,180 1. 717
Other habilitss 15 17476 11,376
TOTAL LIABILITIES 336,297 274,628
EQLUITY
Share capital 18 55,381 55381
Retained aarmings 35558 39 205
(Hher Resenses 180 -
TOTAL EQUITY 81,529 B4 BTT
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 417,826 369,305
Signed and authorized for release on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank gn 29 April 2022

Cenk Yok
Chigf Ex uti
General DN F "?a

Ramin Saftaisy

Chief of Financial Reports and
Development Department

The accomparnying notes on pages 5 1o 84 are an integral part of thesa financial siatements.



Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJ5C
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
{Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaiiani Manais)

Notes 2021 2020
intarast income calcwlated using the effactive interest
miethod 20 ir.ara 21,668
Inderesl axpenss 20 {1,711} {2,050}
Mot margin on interest and similar incoma 16,167 15,618
Credit loss allowancs 8 (3.503) (284)
Met margin on interest and similar income after credit
loss allowance 12,574 18,304
Fae and commission incoma 21 8,084 4,706
Fee and commission expense 21 (5472 4.715)
Gaing less losses from modication of financial assets [24) [131)
Gains less losses from trading in foreign cumencles 4 221 3,708
Wet nsses from cumency iranskation differences {74) {29)
Daher intomiz 54 15
Payroll, General and administrative expanses 22 (23 503 (23, 363)
Other impalmient and provislons (9 {53)
{Loss) / Profit before tax (2,329} 3,473
Income tax sxpensd 14 (294) {145)
(LOSS) ! PROFIT FOR THE YEAR {3,328) 3323
Cther comprehensive income for the year:
Fair Valua Gains or Lossas Recognizad in OCI that will not
be classified under PEL 180
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LDSS)! INCOME FOR THE
YEAR [3.148) 3,328

Thie accompanying nobés on paoges 5 1o 64 ane an indegral part of these financial statamants.



Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC

Statement of Changes in Equity
{Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaflani Manats)

Share Retained Oither Total
Capital earnings reserves

Balance at 1 January 2020 55,381 35,068 - 81,349
Profif for the year - 3328 - 3,328
Total comprehensiva income

for the year - 3,324 3,328
Balance at 31 Decembar

2020 55,381 39,256 . 4,677
Lass for the yaar - [3.228) . (3,328)
Other comprehansive income - . 180 180
Total comprehensive income

for the year - {3,328) 180 {3, 148)
Balance at 31 December

2021 55,381 35,568 180 81,529

The accompanying noles on pages 5 to 64 are an integral part of these financial stalaments,



Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Statemant of Cazh Flow
{Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaliani Manals)

Netes 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities
Inlerest recehved 18,121 21,408
Inferest paid (1.649) [2.218)
Feas and commissions recaived 0,095 8,837
Feas and commissions paid (5.472) {4,715}
Income recaived from trading in foreign cumencies 4,22 3,708
Otther income recaived 54 15
Pergonnel expenses paid (9,444) {8,304)
Oher operating expenses paid (7.585) {7,B4B)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes In

oparating assets and labliites T.241 8,798
Nat (increase)decreass in operaling assels
Amounts due from credil institulions (11.002) 8,251
Loans o customers (27 J0E) 35247
Other assets {144} 26
Nl incragsefdecraass) in operating abiites
Amounis due o credil instiutions 8,235 1,921
Amounis due b customens 35,788 (B0, 880)
Ot liabilities BET {1,067}
Met cash froam/ (used in) operating activities before

income tax 14,778 {25,206)
Income Lax paid (351) [4EE)
Mul cash lvoml (used in) cperating activities 14,427 (25.672)
Cash Nows from investing activities
Proceads from disposal of bonds 2,750 =
Purchase of property and eguipmeant i1 (B11}) [2,154)
Purchase of inlangible assels 12 {1,810 (2,244
Het cash fromd [used in) investing activities 320 [4,453)
Cash flows from financing activities
Ruepayment of principal of lease liabilities (2.265) (2,162}
Mat cash used in financing activities (2,265) {2, 182)
Effect of exchange rales changes on cash and cash equivalenis (T4) (29}
Met increaseldecrease) in cash and cash equivalents 12,417 (32,316)
Cash and cash equivalents, at the beginning of the year 203,772 236,088
Cash and cash equivalents, at the end of the year 710 216,189 203,772

—

As per Bank policy cash and cash equivalents include-notes issued by Central Bank of Azerbaljan Republic
amounted AZN 13,266 (2020: AZN 20,.232).




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements — 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbajjani Manats)

1 Introduction

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Imternational Financial Reporting
Standards for the year ended 31 December 2021 for Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan (the “Bank”).

The Bank was incorporated and is domiciled in the Republic of Azerbaijan. Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan is &
closed joint-stock company limited by shares and was set up in accordance with Azerbaijani regulations.

Principal activity. The Bank’s principal business activity is commercial and retail banking operations within
the Republic of Azerbaijan, The Bank has operated under a full banking license issued by the Central Bank
of the Republic of Azerbaijan (the "“CBAR") since 11 January 2000 under registration number 243. The Bank
participates in the state deposit Insurance scheme, which was intreduced by the Azeri Law, “Insurance of
individual deposits in the Republic of Azerbaijan” dated 28 December 2006. The Stale Deposit Insurance
Fund guarantees full repayment of deposits of individuals, annual interest rate not exceeding 12% for AZN,
2.5% for Toreign curmBncies,

Registered address and place of business. The Bank's registered address and principal place of business
iz TIG Jall Mammadguluzadeh streat Baku, AZ1078, Azerbaijan,

The Bank has 8 branches (2020: 8 branches), 1 customer services unit (2020: 1 unit) within the Republic of
Azerbaijan, The Bank had 249 employeas at 31 December 2021 (2020: 247).

As at 31 Decernber 2021 and 2020 the following shareholders owned the oulstanding shares of the Bank:

Shareholdar o
Yap: ve Kredi Bankas & 5, 99.8
Y Yalirirm Menkul Degeder A5, o1
YK Leass A.5. 0.
Total iad.0

Yapi ve Kredi Bankas) A S, ("YKE'), an entity established in Turkey, is the ullimate parent of the Bank, YKB's
shares have bean traded on the Istanbul Stock Exchange ("ISE”) since 1987, As of 31 December 2021,
32.03% of the shares of the "YKB" are publicly fraded (2020: 30.03%).

40.95% of the shares out of the remaining 67 97% is owned by Kog Finansal Hizmetler A.5. ("KFS") which
is owned by Kog¢ Group, 9.02% is owned by Kog Group and 18.00% (2020: 20.00%) is owned by UniCredit
("UCG"). Accordingly, the total direct and indirect shares of Kog Group stand al 49.97% (2020: 49.97%).




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbalfan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements - 21 December 2021
{Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbajjani Manats)

2 Operating Environment of the Bank

The Republic of Azerbaijan displays certain characteristics of an emerging market, Current and future growth
and stability of the economy is largely dependent upon the effective implementation of economic, fiscal and
monetary measures underiaken by government as well as crude oll prices and stability of Azerbaijani manat,

Based on the economic reforms initiated after the devaluation of 2016 involving instifutional changes,
between 2017-2019 period aconomic growth remained positive, inflation was stable at a low single-digit rate
and the exchange rafe of the nalional currency was sustainable.

Azerbaijani economy rebounded strongly in 2021 from recession in 2020 and grew by 5.6 percent, reaching
pre-pandemic level. The recovery in oil prices in 2021 and gradual lifting of pandemic restrictions built
confidence and economic growth was led by robust performance in non-oil sectors, despite challenges fram
the ongoing pandemic. The Manat remained stable throughout 2021 as pressure on manat decreased
substantially, thanks to more than 80% annual rise in exports,

After the liberation of occupied territories in Karabakh region, restoration and reconstruction of the liberated
territory have started swiftly, with the focus of reintegrating thesa territories o Azerbaijani economy, These
aclivities are expected (o provide a further boost to Azerbaijani economy in near future and long-term.

In April 2021, Moody's affirmed Azerbaijan's economy as “Ba2” rating and changed outlook from stable to
positive. In April 2022, Moody's issued a Credit Opinion of "Ba2” positive for Azerbaijan.

The lending activity of the Banking Sector has risen by 18% in 2021, providing support to the economic
growth. Consumer and mortgage loans to individuals rose 22% and deposits portfolio of the Banking sector
recorded 30% growth.

The ongoing affects of the palitical and economic situation are difficult to predict, but they may have further
effects on the economy of Azerbaijan, which may lead 10 a deterioration of the State finances, volatility of
financial markets, illiquidity on capital markets, higher infiation and a depreciation of the national currency
against major foreign currancies,

The Bank's Management is manitoring these developments in the current environment and taking
precautionary measures as |l considers necessary in order to ensure the sustainabiity and development of
the Bank's business in the foreseeable future.

The Bank's Management is taking necessary measures to ensure sustainability of the Bank's operations and
supporl its customers and employees consider listing the measures taken, for example:

- The impact of COVID-18 on dependency of personnel has mainly noliced for sales personnel since they
are working with cuslomers and have direct contact with them, for that reason working online for sales
personnel is not effective. COVID-19 affected less the dependency of other back-office employees
because they were able to work online with efficient productivity;

The average number of employeeas working at the office was 160 or 64%, home 89 or 36% during tha
period of January 2021 — December 2021;

= As aresult of pandemic impact 19 loans (5 business and 14 retail), with the total amount of AZN 4,000
wera resiruciured;

- Despite difficulties, the Bank managed to increase panetration of clients in e-banking and had a chance
lo optimise products/services offered via this channel and also simplified alternative credit card
application channel involving Call Centre and Undenariting leams to the process;

In line with managemant strategy, second level controls were conducted to ensure complete complianca
with COVID restrictions, as well as lo minimize related IT security and HR risks.

However, the fulure effects of the current economic situation are difficult to predict and management's current
expectations and estimates could differ from actual results,




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbailjan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements — 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbajiani Manais)

3 Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of preparafion. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") under the historical cost convention, as modified by the initial
recognition of financial instruments based on fair value, and by the revaluation of financial instruments
categorised at fair value through profit or loss "FVTPL") and at fair value through other comprehensive
income {"FVOCIT). The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements
are sel oul below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unbess
othanaise stated, Refer to Note 5.

Financial instruments = Key measurement ferms. Fair value is the price that would be received fo sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurémani
date, The best evidence of fair value is price in an active markel. An active marked is one in which fransactions
for the asset or lability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information an an
ongoing basis, Fair value of financial instruments fraded in an aclive markel is measured as the product of
the quoted price for the individual asset or liability and the quantity held by the entity. This is the case even
if a market's normal daily trading volume is not sufficient to absorb the quantity held and placing orders to
sell the position in a single transaction might affect the quoted price.

Valuation technigues such as discounied cash flow models or models based on recent arm's length
ransactions or consideralion of financial data of the investees, are used to measure fair value of certain
financial instruments for which external market pricing information is nol available. Fair value measuremants
are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are measurements at quoted prices
{unadjusted) in active markets for identical assels or liabilities, (i) level two measurements are valuations
techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liabdity, either direcily (that is, as prices) or
indirecily (that is. derved from prices), and (i) level three measuremeanis are valuations nat based on solely
cbservable market data (that is, the measurement requires significant unobservable inpuls). Transfers
between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the end of the reporting period.

fransacion cosis are incremental costs ihal are direcily atinpbutable lo the acquisition, issue o uisposal of a
financial imstrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not
taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees acting as
selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, lavies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and
ransfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or
infernal administrative or holding costs.

Amaortised cost (CAC) is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at initial recognition
less any principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any allowance for expected
credit losses. Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial recognition and of
any premium or discount fo maturity amount using the effective interest method. Accrued interest income
and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amorised discount or premium (including
feas deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are included in the carrying values of
related items in the stalement of financial position.

The effective inferas! method is a method of allocating inferest income or interest expense over the relevant
period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount,
The effective inerest rale is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash paymenis or receipts
{excluding fulure credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter pariod, if
appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument.

The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing
date, except for the premium or discount, which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in
the instrument, or olher variables that are nol reset o market rates. Such premiums or discounis are
amaorlised over the whole expected [ife of the instrument, The present value calculation includes all fees paid
of received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.




Yapi Kred! Bank Azerbalfan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements — 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbajjani Manats)

3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial instruments - initial recognition. Financial instruments at FVTPL are initially recorded al fair
value. All other financial instruments are initially recorded al fair value adjusted for transaction costs. Fair
value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is
only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by
other observable current market fransactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose
inputs include only data from observable markets. After the initial recognition, an ECL allowance is
recognised for financial assets measured al AC and invesiments in dabl instruments measured at FVOCI,
resulting in an immediate accounting loss.

All purchases and sales of financial assets thal require delivery within the time frame estiablished by
regulation or market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the
date on which the Bank commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases are recognised when the
entity becomes a party 1o the condractual provisions of the instrument,

Financial assets — classification and subsequent measurement - measurement categories. The Bank
classifies fimancial assets in the following measurement calegories: FVTPL, FVOCI and AC. The
classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on: (i) the Bank's business
model for managing the related assels portfolio and (i) the cash flow characteristics of the asset,

Financial assets - classification and subseguent measurement - business model, The business model
reflects how the Bank manages the assets in order to generate cash flows - whether the Bank's objective is;
(i) solefy to coliect the contractual cash flows from the assets (“hold to collect contractual cash flows" ) or (i)
to collect both the confraciual cash flows and the cash flows arizsing from the sale of assets (“hold to collect
confractual cash flows and sell) or, if neither of (i} and (i) is applicable, the financial assets are classified as
part of “other” business model and measured at FVTPL.

Business model is delermined for a group of assets (on a portfolio level) based on all relevant evidence aboul
the activities that the Bank undertakes to achieve the objective set out for the portfolio available at the date
of the assessment. Faclors considered by the Bank in determining the business mode! include the purpose
and composition of a portfolio, past experience on how the cash flows for the respective assels were
collected, how risks are assessed and managed, how the assets’ performance is assessed. Refer to Nate 4
for critical judgements applied by the Bank in determining the business madels for ils financial assets.

Financial assets — classification and subsequent measurement — cash flow characteristics. Where the
business model is 1o hold assels to collect confractual cash flows or o hodd contractual cash flows and sell,
the Bank assesses whether the cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (*SPPI7),
Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that is inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangemant, the financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL, The SPPI assessment is parformed
on initial recognition of an asset and it is nol subsequently reassessed. Refer to Note 4 for criical judgements
apphied by the Bank in performing the SPPI test for its financial assets,

Financial assets — reclassification. Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model
for managing the portfolio as a whole changes. The reclassification has a prospective effect and takes place
from the beginning of the first reporting period that follows after the change in the business model. The Bank
did not change its business model during the current and comparative period and did not make any
reclassifications.

Financial assets impairment — credit loss allowance for ECL. The Bank assesses, on a forward-looking
basis, the ECL for debt instrumants measured at AC and FVOCI and for the exposures arising from loan
commitments and financial guaraniee contracis. The Bank measures ECL and recognises credit loss
allowance at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability welghted
arnount that is datermined by evalualing a range of possible outcomes, (iE) time value of money and (i) all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost and effort at the end of each
reporting pericd about past events, current conditions and forecasts of fulure conditions

Debi instruments measured at AC are presented in the statement of financial position net of the allowance
for ECL. For loan commitments and financial guarantees, a separate provision for ECL s recognised as a
liabality in the statement of financial position. For debt instruments at FVOCI, changes in amortised cost, net
of allowance for ECL, are recognised in profit or loss and other changes in carrying value are recognised in
oCI as gaing less losses on debl instruments at FVOCI.




Yapi Kredi Bank Arerbaijan CJSC
Notes to the Financlal Stalements = 31 December 2021
{Amounts axpressed in thousands of Azerbaliani Manals)

3 Significant Accounting Palicies [Continued)

The Bank applies a fhree stage model for impairment, based on changes in cradit quality since initial
recognition. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage 1.
Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount egual to the portion of lifetime ECL that
results from default events possible within the next 12 manths or until contractual maturity, if shorter (“12
Months ECL®). If the Bank identifies a significant increase in credit risk (*SICR”) since initial recognition, the
assel is transferred to Slage 2 and itz ECL is measured based on ECL on a lifetime basis, that is, up untl
contractual maturity but considering expected prepayments, if any (“Lifetime ECL"). Refer to Note 1 for a
description of how the Bank determines when a SICR has occurred. i the Bank determines that a financial
assel is credil-impaired, the assel is transferred to Stage 3 and its ECL Is measured as a Lifetime ECL. The
Bank’s definiticn of credit impaired assets and definition of default is explained in Mate 1 .

As an exception, for certain financial instruments, such as credit cards, that may include both a loan and an
undrawn commitment component, the Bank measures expected credil losses over the period that the Bank
is exxposed to credit risk, that ks, until the expected credit losses would be mitigated by credit risk management
aclions, even if thal period extends beyond the maximum contraciual period. This is because confractual
ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the exposure 1o credit losses
to such confractual notice period.

Financial agsets - write-off, Financial assels are written-off, in whole or in par, when the Bank exhausied
all practical recovery efforts and has concluded thal there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The
write-0ff represents a derecognition event. Thie Bank may write-off financial assets that are stil subject to
enforcement activity when the Bank seeks to recover amounis that are contractually due, however, there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery,

Financial assets = derecognition. The Bank derecognises financial assets when (a) the assels are
redeemed or the righls to cash flows from the assets otherwise expired or (b) the Bank has transferred the
rights to the cash flows from the financial assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through arrangement while
(i) also transferring substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or (i) neither transferring
nor retaining substantially all risks and rewards of ownership, bul not retaining controld, Control is retained if
the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sefl the asset in its entirety 10 an unrelated third party
without needing to impose resiricions on the sale.

Financial azsels = modification. The Bank somelimes renegoliates or otherwise modifies the contraciual
terms of the financial assels. The Bank assesses whether the modification of contfactual cash flows is
substantial considering, among other, the following factors: any new confractual terms that substantially
affect the risk profile of the asset (eg profit share or equity-based return), significant change in interast rate,
change in the currency denomination, new collateral or credit enhancameant that significanily affects the credit
risk associated with the asset or a significant extension of a loan when ihe bofrower s not in financial
difficulties.

If the: modified terms are substantially different, the rights 1o cash flows from the original asset expire and the
Bank derecognises the original financial assel and recognises a new asset at its fair value, The date of
renegoliation is considered to be the dale of inilial recognition for subsequent impairment calculation
purposes, incleding delermining whether a SICR has occumred. The Bank also assesses whethar the new
loan or debt instrument meets the SPPI critérion. Any difference batween the carrying amount of the original
assel derecognised and fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profil or loss,
unless the substance of the difference iz altribuled to a capital transaction with owners,

In a situation where the renegotation was driven by financial difficulties of the counterparty and inability to
make the originally agreed payments, the Bank compares the original and revised expected cash flows o
assels whether the risks and rewards of the asset are substantially different as a result of the confractual
maodification. If the risks and rewards do not change, the modified asset is nol substantially differant from the
original asset and the modification does not result in derecognition. The Bank recalculates the gross camying
amount by discounting the modified contractual cash flows by the original effective interest rate, and
recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss,

Financial Nabilities - measurement categores. Financial liabilities are classified as subsequenly
measured at AC, axcept for (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied lo derivatives,
financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in securities), contingent consideration recognised by
an acquires in a business combination and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition
and (i) financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
MNotes fo the Financlal Statements = 31 December 2021
{Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats)

3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities - derecognition. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e.
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

An axchange betweean the Bank and its original lenders of debl instruments with substantially different terms,
a3 well as subsiantial modifications of the terms and conditions of existing financial liabiities, are accounted
for as an extinguishment of the orginal financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The
terms are subsiantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10% different from the discounied present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability.

In addilion, other qualitabive faclors, such as the currency tha the instrurment is denominated in, changes in the type of
inferesl rale, new conwersion features altachad (o the instrumant and change in loan covenants are akso considanad., if
an axchange of debd instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
imcurrad ane recognised as part of the gain or [958 on the exlinguishmaenl. I the exchandgs or modifcation is nol
accmaied for as an extingueshment, any cosks or fses incurred adjust the camying amount of the labikty and are
amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

Maodifications of liabilities that do not result in extinguishment are accounted for as a change in estimate using
a8 cumulative catch up method, with any gain or loss recognised in profil or loss, unless the economic
substance of the difference in carrying values is atiributed fo a capital transaction with ocwniers,

Cash and cash eguivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are shori-term lems which are readily convertible
fo known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, amounts due from the CBAR, excluding obligalory reserves, and
unrestricled balances on correspondent accounts including overnight deposits and deposits with ariginal
maturities of less than three months, Funds resiricted for a period of more than three months on origination
are excluded from cash and cash equivalents, both in the statement of financial position and for the purposes
of the statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are camried at AC because: (i) they are held for
collection of contractual cash ows and those cash lows represent SPPI, and (i) they are nol designaled al
FWTPL. Notes from CBAR represent cash and cash eguivalents,

Mandatory cash balances with the CBAR. Mandatory cash balances with the CBAR are carried al AC and
represent non-inlenest bearing mandatory reserve deposits, which are not available to finance the Bank's
day to day operalions, and hence are not considered as part of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes
of the statement of cash flows.

Dwre from credit institutions. Amounts due from credit instifutions are recorded when the Bank advances
money o counlerparty banks, Amounts due from credit instilutions are carried at AC when: (i) they are held
for the purposes of collecting contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent SPPI, and (i) they are
not designated al FVTPL.,

Invastments in debi securities. Based on the business model and the cash flow characteristics, the Bank
classifies investments in debt securities as carried at AC, FVOC! or FVYTPL. Debt securities are carried at AC
if they are held for collection of contractual cash flows and where those cash flows represent SPPI, and if
thery are not voluntarily designated at FVTPL in order to significantly reduce an accounting mismatch,

Debt securilies are carmied at FVOC] if they are held for collecton of contractual cash flows and for selling,
whera ihose cash flows represent SPPI, and if they are not designaled at FVTPL. Interasi income from thesa
assets is calculated using the effective inferest method and recognised in profit or loss. An impairment
allowance estimated using the expected credit loss model is recognised in profil or loss for the year. All other
changes in the carrying value are recognised in QOC1, When the debl securily is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in OCI iz reclassified from OCI to profit or loss.

Investments in debd securities are carried at FVTPL if they do not meet the criteria for AC or FVOCI, The
Bank may also irevocably designate investments in debt securities at FVTPL on initial recognition f applying
this oplion significantly reduces an accounling mismatch between financial assels and liabdities being
recognised or measured on different accounting bases.
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Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements - 31 December 2021
(Amouniz expressed in thousands of Azerbaijani Manatzs)

3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Investments in equity securities. Financial assels that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's
perspective, Le. instruments that do nol contain a contractual obligation o pay cash and thal evidence a
residual inferest in the issver's net assets, are considered as investments in egquity securities by the Bank,
Investments in equity securities are measured al FVTPL, except where the Bank elects al initial recognition
fo irrevocably designate an equily investments at FVOCIL The Bank's policy is to designate equity
imvestments as FVOC! when those investments are held for stralegic purposes other than solely to generate
invesiment returns. When the FVOCI election is used, fair value gains and Iosses are recognised in OCI and
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses and their
reversals, if any, are not measured separately from other changes in fair value. Dividends conlinue to be
recognised in profit or loss when the Bank's right to receive payments is established except when they
represant a recovery of an investment rather than a return on such invesiment.

Loans to cusfomers. Loans o customers are recorded when the Bank advances money o purchase or
originate a loan due from a cusiomer. Based on the business model and the cash flow characteristics, the
Bank classifies loans to customers into one of the following measurement categories: (i) AC: loans that are
held for collection of confractual cash Nlows and these cash flows represent SPPI and loans that are nol
voluntarily designated at FVWTPL, and (i) FWTPL: loans that do not meet the SPPI test or other criteria for AC
of FVOC| are measured at FVTPL.

Impairment allowances are determined based on the forward-looking ECL models, Mote 1 provides
information aboul inputs, assumplions and estimation fechnigues used in measuring ECL, including an
explanation of how the Bank incorporates forward-looking infarmation in the ECL models.

Repossessed collateral. Repossessed collateral represents financial and non-financial assels acquired by
the Bank in settlement of overdue loans. The assets are mitially recognised al fair value when acguired and
included in premises and equipment, olher financial assets, invesiment properties or inventories within other
assets depending on their nature and the Bank's intention in respect of recovery of these assets. The Bank
measures a repossessed collateral at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The
Bank recognizes an impairment koss for any initial or subsequent wrile-down of the asset to fair value less
cosls to sell if evenis or changes in circumstance indicate that their carrying amount may be impaired.

Loan commitments. The Bank issues commitments 1o provide loans. These commitments are irevocable
or revocable only in response o a material adverse change. Such commilments are initially recognised at
thedr fair walue, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This amount is amortised on a
straight line basis over the life of the commitment, except for commitments o originate oans if it is probable
thatl tha Bank will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sefl the resulting loan
shortly after origination; such loan commitment fees are deferred and included in the carrying value of the
loan on initial recognition. At the end of each reporting pericd, the commitments are measured at (i) the
remaining unamortised balance of the amount at initial recognition, plus (i} the amount of the loss allowance
detarmined based on the expecied credil loss model, undass the commitment is (0 provide a loan af a balow
market interest rate, in which case the measurement is at the higher of these two amounts. The carmrying
armount of the loan commilments represents a liabdlity. For contracis thal include both a loan and an undrawn
commitmeant and where the Bank cannot separately distinguish the ECL an the undrawn loan companent
from the loan compaonent, thé ECL on the undrawn commitment is recognised together with the loss
allowance for the lean. To the exient that the combined ECLs axcead tha gross carrying amouni of the loan,
they are recognised as a liabdlity,
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Notes to the Financial Statements — 31 December 2021
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Financial guarantees. Financial guarantees require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder of the guarantes for a loss it incurs because a specified debior fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. Financial guaraniees are iniially
recognised in "Other liabilities™ at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees recened,
This amount is amaortised on a straight line bagis over the life of the guarantee. At the end of each reporting
period, the guarantees are measured ai the higher of (i} the amount of the loss allowance for the guaranteed
exposure determined based on the expected loss model and (i) the remaining unamoriised balance of the
amount at initial recognition. In addition, an ECL loss allowance is recognised for fees receivable that are
recognised in the statement of fimancial position as an asset.

Taxation. The current income tax expense is calcutated in accordance with the regulations of the Republic
of Azerbaijan,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the liability method.
Deferred income laxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assels
and liabilites and their carrying values for financial reporing purposes, excepl where the deferred Income
tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liabdity in a transaction that is not a business
combiration and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

A deferred tax asset is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible lemporary differences can be ulilized. Deferred tax assels and liabilittes are measured
at tax rates that are expected 1o apply to the period when the assel is realized or the liability is settled, basad
on tax rates that have been enacied or substantively enacied at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controfled and
i1 is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

In addition, there are varicus operating taxes in Azerbaljan such as VAT, properly tax, withhelding tax and
others which vecome relevant as a result of the Bank's operations. These taxes are included as a component
of general and adminisirative expenses.

Property and equipment. Property and equipment are carried at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day
servicing, less accumulated depreciation and amy accumulated impairment, Seeh cost includes the cost of
replacing part of eqguipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Depreclation, Depreciation of an asset beging when it is available for use. Depreciation is calculated on a
siraighl-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Yoears
Leasahold iImprovemanis 4-15
Furnibure and fixiures 4-5
Computers and office equipmen 4
Motor vehicles 4

The asset's residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, al each
financial year-end.

Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when incurmed and included in other operating expensas,
unless they qualify for capitalization.

Intangible assets. Intangible assels other than goodwill include computer software and licenses,

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following inftial recognition,
intangible assets are carried al cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assels
with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic lives of 1 to 10 years and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an Indication that the intangible azsed may be impaired.

Amortization periods and methods for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed at least at
each financial year-end.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Accounting for leases by the Bank as a lessee. The Bank leases office premises, apartments, cars and
ATMs. Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Bank. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constand
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lability for each period. The right-of-use assel is
recognised at cost and depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis,

Liabilittes arising from a lease are inftially measured on a present value basis, Lease liabilities include the
nel present value of the following lease payments;

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed paymenis), less any lease incentives recelvable;
variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rale;

- amounts expected to be payable by the lesses under residual value guaraniees;

. the exercise price of @ purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain o exercise that option,

* payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that

option,

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rale cannol be
delerrmined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary o obtain an asset of simiar value in a similar economic emvironment with
girmilar terms and conditions.,
Right-of-use assels are measured al cost comprising the following:
the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
» any lease paymenis made at or before thie commencement date less any lease incentives received;
any inkial direct costs, and
. restoration costs,

In determining the lease term, managemeni of the Bank considers &l facts and circumstances that create an
|conomic incentive 1o exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination oplion. Extension oplions
(or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain o
be axtended or nol terminated.

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which
affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lesses.

Due to other credit institutions. Amounts due to olther banks are recorded when money or other assels
are advanced 1o the Bank by counterparty banks. The non-derivative liability is carried at AC.

Amounts due fo customers. Amounts due 1o customers are non-derivative liabilities to individuals, state or
corporate customers and are carmed al AC,

Provision. Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of uncertain timing of amount
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outfiow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to satlle
the obligation and a reliable astimate of the amount of obligation can be made.

Share Capital. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue of
néw shares, other than on a business combination, are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity.

Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recognized as
additional paid-in capital.

Presentation of statement of financial position in order of liquidity. The Bank does not have a clearly
identifiable operating cycle and therefore does not present current and non-current assets and liabilies
separately in the staterment of financial position, Instead, assets and liabilities are presented in order of their
liquidity. Refer to Mote 23 for analysis of financial instruments by expected maturity,

Contingencies. Conlingent liabilities are not recognized in the statement of financial position bul are
disclosed unless the possibility of any outflow in setilement is remote. A contingent asset is nol recognized
in the statement of financial position but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable,
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3 Significant Accounting Policies {Continued)

Interest income and expense recognition. Interest income and expense are recorded for all debt
instrumenis on an accrual basis wsing the effective interest method, This method defers, as par of inlerest
income of axpense, all fees paid or received between the parties to the contract that are an inlegral par of
the effective interest rate, iransaction costs and all ofher premiums or discounts,

Fees integral 1o the effective interest rate include origination fees received or paid by the entity relating o the
creation or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial lability, for example fees for evaluating
creditworthiness, evaluating and recording guarantees or collateral, negotiating the lerms of the instrument
and foar processing fransaction documents. Commitment fees received by the Bank io originate loans at
market interest rates are integral to the effective inlerest rate i it is probable that the Bank will enter into a
specific lending arrangemeant and does nol expect to sell the resulting loan shorlly after origination. The Bank
does not designate loan commitments as financial liabilities at FVTPL.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carying amount of financial
assets, excepl for financial assets that have become credit impaired (Stage 3), for which interest revenue is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their AC, net of the ECL provision.

If the credit risk on the financial assel classified in Stage 3 subsequently improves so that the asset is no
longer credil-impaired and the improvement can be related objectively 1o an event ocourring after the assel
had been determined as credil-impaired (ie the assel becomes cured), the assel is reclassified from stage 3
and the interest revenue 15 calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carmying amount. The addisonal
inferest income, which was previously not recognised in the statement of profit and loss due to the asset
being in stage 3 but it is now expected to be received following the assel’s curing, is recognised as a reversal
of impairmant,

Fees and commissions. The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it
provides 1o its customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two calegories:

. Fee income eamed from services thal are provided over a certain period of time

Fee and commission ncome is recognised over time on a straight line basis as the services are rendered,
when the customer simullaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Bank's
performance. Loan commitment fees for loans thal are likely 1o be drawn down and other credil reiated

fees are defarmed (logether with any iIncremental costs) and recognized as an adjiustment to the effective marest ratle on
the lpan.

. Fee income from providing lransaclion senvices

Fee and commission income is recognised at a point in time when the Bank satisfies its performance
obligation, usually upon execulion of the underlying transaction, The amount of fee of comMmMISsion receved
or receivable represents the transaction price for the services identified as distinct performance
obligations. Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party

ara recognized on completion of the undardying transaction. Fees or componeants of fees that are finked fo a
certain performance are recognised after fulfilling the coresponding criteria

Sales and purchases of foreign currencies and currency conversion. The Bank sells and purchases
foreign cumrencies in the cash offices and through the bank accounts, as well as exchanges foreign
currencies. The transactions are performed at the exchange rates established by the Bank, which are
different from the official spot exchange rales al the particular dates. The differences between the official
rales and Bank rales are recognised as gaing less losses from frading in foreign currencies at a pointin time
when a particular performance obligation is satisfied.
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Notes to the Financlal Statements = 371 Decembaer 2021
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3 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation. The financial statements are presented in Azerbaijani Manat, which is the
Bank's functional and presentation currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the
functional currency, converted at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monelary assels
and liabilities denominated in forelgn currencies are refransialed at the functional currency rate of exchange
ruling at the reporting date. Gains and losses rasulting from the translation of foreign currency transactions
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and olher comprehensive incomea as net gains (losses) from
foreign currency franslation differences. Non-monelary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
& foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as al the dates of the initial ransaclions. Man-
monetary items measurad at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined,

Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a transaction in a foreign currency and the CBAR
exchange rate on the dale of the transaction are included in gains/ losses from dealing operations.

The Bank used the following officlal exchange rates al 31 December 2021 and 2020 in the preparation of
these financial staternents:

2021 2020
1 US dollar AZM 1, 7000 AZM 1,7000
1 EUR AZN 19065 AFN 20850
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Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Notes to the Financlal Statemants = 31 Decembear 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaljani Manals)

4 Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements,
and the carrving amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements
ara continually evalualed and are based on management's experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, Management also
makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting
policies. Judgements thal have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
slatements and estimates thal can cause a significant adjusimeni io the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year include:

Going concern. The Bank prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis. In making this
judgemeant management considered the Bank’s financial position, current intentions, profitability of operations
and access 10 financial resources, and analysed the impact of recent macro-economic developments on
future operations of the Bank.

ECL measurement. Measurement of ECLs is a significant estimate thal involves determination of
meathodology, models and data inputs. Delails of ECL measuremeni methodology are disclosed in Mote 23,
The following componenis have a major impact on credit loss allowance: definition of defaull, SICR,
probability of default ("PD"), exposure at default ("EAD"), and loss given default ("LGD"), as well a8 models
of macro-economic scenarios, The Bank regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models
to reduce any differences betweean expected credil loss estimates and aciual credit loss experience.

A 15% imcrease or decrease in PD estimates would result in an increase or decrease in iotal expected credit
loss allowances of AZN 1,162 thousand at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: increase or decrease of
AZN 173 thousand). A 15% increase or decrease in LGD estimates would resull in an increase of decrease
in total expected credit loss allowances of AZN 1,660 thousand at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020;
increase or decrease of AZN 638 thousand),

Customer relief measures. The Bank implemented ralief measures stipulated in the law passed in Aol 2020
in responsa to the spread of COVID-19. However, such measures were not in the form of blankel maratorias
and borrowers had to apl-in for its debt restructuring following procedure for such restructurings established by
the Bank in March 2020 and April of 2020 following the pandemic. Individuals and SMEs that are negatively
affected by the virus and lost more than 30% of their income can apply for payment holidays for up fo six
months, which have to be granted by the Bank. The Bank concluded that generally such applications provide
evidence of a significant increase in credit risk of the loan, unless observable miligating faclors (affecled
ndustry, governmen! zubsidy, amd cusfomer credifworthiness) are dentied. Additional melrcs were
considered for stage determination for COVID impacted portfolio, such as “credit history™ and “days past due”
siatus as of restructuring date, payment behaviour of bormowers before and after lockdown,

The Bank offered paymeni holidays and temporary reduction in interest rales on certain consumer [oans. The
Bank concluded that these measures resull in contraciual modification of the respective loans, Since payment
holbdays did nol cover concession on interest charged fo borowers, the Bank did mol incur significant
meadification koss in the period ended 31 December 2021,

Determination of collateral value. Management monitors market value of coflateral on a regular basis.
Management uses s experienced jwdgment or independent opinion to adjust the fair value o reflect
the current circumstances. The amount and collateral required depend an the assessment of credit risk of
the counlarparty.

Initial recognition of related parly transactions. In the normal course of business, the Bank enters into
transactions with its related parties. IFRS 9 requires initial recognition of financial instruments based on their
fair values. Judgement is applied in determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market interest
rates, where there is no active market for such transactions. The basis for judgement is pricing for similar
types of transactions with unrelated parlies and effective interest rate analysis. Terms and conditions of
related party balances are disclosed in Mote 25,

Credit exposure on revolving credit facilities {e.g. credit cards, overdrafts). For certain loan facilities,
the Bank's exposure o credil losses may extend beyond the maximum confractual period of the facility. This
exception apples to certain revalving credit facilities, which include both a loan and an undrawn commitment
companent and where the Bank’s contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the wundrawn
compaonent in practice does not lmit its exposure 1o credit losses.
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4 Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies [Continued)

For such facilities, the Bank measures EGLs over the period that the Bank is exposed to cradit risk and ECLs
are not miligated by credit risk management aclions. Application of this exceplion requires judgement.
Management applied ils judgement in identifying the facilities, bolh retail and commercial, to which this
excaplion applies. The Bank applied this exception to facilities with the following characteristics:

(&) there is no fixed term or repayment structure, (b) the contractual ability 1o cancel the contract is nol in
practice enforced as a result of day-to-day managemaent of the credit exposure and the contract may only be
cancelled when the Bank becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the leved of an individual faclity, and
(c) the exposures are managed on a collective basis. Further, the Bank applied judgement in determining a
period for measuring the ECL, including the starting point and the expected end point of the exposures.

Thie Bank considered historcal information and experience about: (a) the period over which the Bank is
exposed fo credit risk on similar facilities, including when the last significant modification of the Tacility
occurred and that therefore determines the starling point for assessing SICR, (b) the length of ime for related
defaults to occur on similar financial instruments following a SICR and (c) the credit risk management actions
(eg the reduction or removal of undrawn limils), prepayment rales and other faclors that drive expected
maturity. In applying these faciors, the Bank segments the porifolios of revolving facilities info sub-groups
and applies the factors that are most relevant based on historical data and experience as well as forward-
looking information.

Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR"). In order to determine whether there has bean a significant
increase in credit ek, the Bank comparas the risk of a defaull occurring over the life of a financial nstrumeant
at the end of the reporling date with the risk of default at the date of initial recognition. The assessment
considers relative increase in credil risk rather than achieving a specific level of credil risk af the end of the
reporting period. The Bank considers all reasonable and supportable forward Iooking information available
without undue cost and effort, which includes a range of factors, including behavioural aspects of paricutar
customer portfolios. The Bank identifies behavioural indicators of increases in credit risk prior to delinquency
and incorporated appropriate Torward looking information into the credil risk assessmenl, either at an
individual instrument, or on a porifolio level. Refer to Mote 24 |

Should ECL on all loans and advances to customers be measured at lifetime ECL (that i, including those
that are currenty in Stage 1 measured at 12-months ECL), the expected credit loss allowance would be
higher by AZM 14,876 thousand as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: higher by AZMN 2673
thousand).

Business model assessment. The business model drives classification of financial assels. Management
applied judgement in delermining the level of aggregation amnd portfolios of financial instruments when
performing the business model assessment. When assessing sales transactions, the Bank considers their
historical frequency, timing and value, reasons for the sales and expectations about future sales activity.
Sales fransactions aimed al minimising polential losses due to credil deterioration are considered consistent
with the "hold to collect” business model. Other sales before maturity, not related to credit risk management
activities, are alzso consistent with the “hold 1o collect” business model, provided that they are infrequent or
insignificant in value, both individually and in aggregate. The Bank assesses significance of sales
ransactions by comparing the value of the sales (o the value of the portfolio subject 1o the business model
assessment over the average life of the portfolio. In addition, sales of financial assel expecied only in siress
case SCenarno, or in response to an isolated event that is beyond the Bank's control, B nol recurring and
could not have been anticipated by the Bank, are regarded as incidental to the business model objective and
do not impact the classification of the respective financial assels.

The “hold to coliect and sell” business model means that assets are held to collect the cash flows, but selling
i5 also integral to achigving the business model's abjective, such as, managing liquidity needs, achieving a
pariicular yield, or maiching the duration of the financial assels to the duration of the liabilities that fund those
assals.

The residual category includes those portfolios of financial assets, which are managed with the objective of
realising cash flows primarily through sale, such as where a pattern of trading exists. Collecting confractual
cash flow is often ncidental for this business moded,

The Bank's debt securities are classified as held 1o collect bazed on the assumption that these securities
would only be sold in a siress case scenario.
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4 Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (Continued)

Assessment whether cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI"). Determining
whether a financial assel's cash fiows are solely payments of principal and interest required judgement.

The time value of money alement may be modified, for example, if a confractual interest rate is periodically
reset but the frequency of that reset does not match the tencr of the debt instrument’s underlying base interest
rate, for example a loan pays three months interbank rale but the rate is reset every month. The effect of the
modified tme value of money was assessed by comparing relevant instrument’s cash flows against a
benchmark debl instrument with SPPI cash flows, in each period and cumulatively over the life of the
instrument. The assessmant was done for all reasonably possible scenarios, Including reasonably possible
financial siress sifuation that can occur in financial markets. In case of a scenario with cash flows that
significantly differ from the benchmark, the assessed instrument’s cash flows are not SPPI and the instrument
is then carried at FVTPL.

The Bank identified and considered confractual terms that change the timing or amount of contractual cash
fiows. The SPPI criterion is met if a loan allows early sefflement and the prepayment amount substantially
rapresants principal and accrued inlerast, plus a reasonable addiional compensation for the early termination
of the contract. The asset's principal is the fair value at initial recognition less subsequent principal
repayments, g instalments nel of interest determined using the effective interest method. As an exception to
this principle, the standard also allows instruments with prepayment features that meel the following condition
o meel SPPI: (i) the assel is originated at a premium or discount, (i) the prepayment amount represents
contractual par amount and accrued interest and a reascnable additional compensation for the early
termination of the contract, and (i) the fair value of the prepayment featura is immaterial at initial recognition.

Modification of financial assets. When financial assets are contractually modified (e.g. renegotiated), the
Bank assesses whether the modification is substantial and should resull in derecognition of the original asset
and recognition of a new asset at fair value. This assessment is based primarily on qualilative factors,
described in the relevant accounting policy and it requires significant judgment. In particular, the Bank applies
judament in deciding whether credit impaired renegotiated loans should be derecognised and whether the
new recognised loans should be considered as credil impaired on inifial recognition, The derecognition
assessment depends on whether the risks and rewards, that is, the variability of expected (rather than
contractual) cash flows, change as a result of such modifications. Management determined thal risks and
rewards did nol change as a result of modifying such loans and therefore in substantially all such
modifications, the loans were neither derecognised nor reclassified oul of the credit-impaired stage

Whrite-off policy. Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Bank exhausted all practical
recovery efforts and has concluded that there is no reasonable axpectation of recovery. Determining the cash
flows for which there is no reasonable expeciation of recovery requires judgement. Management considered
the following indicators thal there i no reasonable expectation of recovery: liguidation or bankrupbcy
proceadings as well as decision of the court.

Determining lease term. The Bank leases office buddings from thind parties under confracts which do not
have confractual maturily dates or are automatically renewed unless either party submits a termination notice
of one month, The Bank determines non-canceflable lease perod for such leases, taking into consideration
penalties thal would be incurred upon lermination, including economic disincentives such as leasehold
improvemenis, cost of relocating or the importance of the premises to the Bank's operalions. As a result, the
lease term for most significant office buildings has been determined as a period of 5-10 yvears.
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5 Adoption of Mew or Revised Standards and Interpretations

The following amendments became effective from 1 January 2021, but did not have any material impact on
the Bank:

COVID-18-Related Rent Concessions Amendment to IFRS 16 (issved on 28 May 2020 and effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020). The amendment provides lessees with relief in the
form of an optional exemption from assessing whether a renl concession related o COVID-19 i a lease
modification. Lessees can elect to account for rent concessions in the same way as if they were nof lease
maodifications, The praclical expedient only applies to rent CONCESSIONS OCCUIIngG as a direct consaguencs of
the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are met: the change in lease payments
results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration
for the lease immediately preceding the change; any reduction in lease paymenis affects only payments dug
on or before 30 June 2021; and there is no substantive change io other lerms and conditions of the lease.
On 31 March 2021, in ligh of the on-going pandemic, the IASE published additional amandment to exiend
the date for the concessions from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022 (effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2021). The Bank voluntarity early adopied the extension of the original amendment.

Interest rate benchmark (IBOR) reform - phase 2 amendments fo IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16 (isswed on 2T August 2020 and effective for annual perlods beginning on or after 1 Januvary
2021). The Phase 2 amendmenis address issues that arise from the implementation of the reforms, including
the replacement of one benchmark with an alternative one, The amendments cover the following areas:

. Accounting for changes in the basis for determining contraciual cash flows as a result of IBOR reform:
For instruments to which the amortised cost measurement applies, the amendments require entities,
as a praclical expedient, to account for a8 change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
fiows as a resull of IBOR reform by updating the effactive interest rate using the guidance in paragraph
B5.4.5of IFRS 9, As aresult, no immediale gain or loss is recognised, This practical expedient applies
only to such a change and only 1o 1he extent il is necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR refarm,
and the new basis is economically equivalent to the previous basis. Insurers applying the lemporary
exemption from IFRS 9 are also required to apply the same practical expedient. IFRS 16 was also
amended o require lessees fo use a simiar practical expedient when accounting for lease
medifications that change the basis for determining fulure lease payments as a result of IBOR reform,

. End date for Phase 1 relief for non-coniractually specified risk components in hedging relationships:
The Phasa 2 amendments require an entity to prospectively cease to apply the Phase 1 reliefs to a
non-contraciually specified risk component at the earler of when changes are made to the non-
contractually specified risk component, or whan the hadging relationship is discontinued. Mo end date
was provided in the Phase 1 amendments for risk componens.

. Additional termporary exceptions from applying specific hedge accounting reguirements: The Phagze 2
amendments provide some addiional temporary reliefs from applying specific 145 39 and IFRS 8
hedge accounting requirements to hedging refationships directly affected by IBOR reform,

. Additional IFRS 7 disclogures relaled to IBOR reform; The amendmentis require disclosure of; (i) how
the entity is managing the transition lo allernative benchmark rates, its progress and the risks arising
from the transition; (i) guantitative informiation about derivatives and non-derivatives that have yel to
transition, disaggregated by significant interest rate benchmark; and (i) a description of any changes
o the risk management strategy as a result of IBOR reform.

The Bank has elected to early adopt Interest Rate Benchmark Reform = Phase 2 amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 38, IFRS 7 and IFRS 16.

The application of the amendmenis did not have any material impact on financial stalements,

m—
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[ New Accounting Pronouncements

Cerlain new standards and inferprefations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 or later, and which the Bank has not early adopted.

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023). IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which has given companies dispensation to camry on
accounting for insurance contracts using existing practices. As a consegquence, it was difficull for invesiors
to compare and contrast the financial perfformance of olherwise similar insurance companies. IFRS 17 is a
single principle-based standard to account for all types of insurance contracts, including reinsurance
contracts that an insurer holds. The standard requires recognition and measurement of groups of insurance
contracis at: (i) a risk-adjusted present value of the future cash flows (the fulfiment cash flows) that
incorporates all of the available information about the fulfilment cash flows in & way that is consistent with
observable market information; plus (if this value is a ability) or minus (if this value is an asset) (i) an amount
representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service margin). Insurers will be
recognising the profit from a group of insurance contracts over the period they provide insurance coverage,
and as they are released from risk. If a group of confracts is or becomes loss-making, an entity will be
recognising the loss immediately,

Amendments to IFRS 17 and an amendment fo IFRS 4 {issved on 25 June 2020 and effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The amendmaents include a number of dlarifications
intended to ease implementation of IFRS 17, simplify some requiremenis of the standard and transition. The
amendments relale to eight areas of IFRS 17, and they are not intended to change the fundamental principles
of the standard, The following amendments to IFRS 17 were made:

- Effective date: The effective date of IFRS 17 (incorporating the amendments) has been deferred by
two years to annual reporting periods beginning on or afler 1 January 2023; and the fixed expiry dale
of the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 in IFRS 4 has also been deferred to annual reposting
pariods beginning on or afler 1 January 2023,

. Expected recovery of insurance acquisiion cash fows: An enlity s required 1o allocale part of the
acquisition costs (o related expected contract renewals, and 1o recognise those cosis as an asset uniil
the enlity recognises the contract renewals. Entities are required (o assess the recoverability of the
asset at each reporling date, and 1o provide specific information about the assel in the noles to the
financial statements.

" Contractual service margin aliributabie fo investment services: Coverage units should be identified,
considering the quantity of benefits and expected period of both insurance coverage and investmeni
services, for contracts under the variable fee approach and for other contracts with an ‘investment-
return service’ under the general model, Cosis related to investment activities should be included as
cash flows within the boundary of an insurance contract, to the axtent that the entity performs such
activities to enhance benefits from insurance coverage for the policyholder,

® Reinsurance confracls held — recovery of iosses: When an entity recognises a loss oninftial recognition
of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts, or on addition of onerous underlying contracts
o a group, an entily should adjust the contraciual service margin of a related group of reinsurance
confracts held and recognise a gain on the reinsurance confracts held. The amount of the loss
recovered from a reinsurance confract held is determined by multiplying the loss recognised on
underlying insurance contracts and the percentage of claims on underlying insurance contracis that
the entity expects 1o recover from the reinsurance contract hald. This requirement would apply only
when the reinsurance contract held is recognised before or at the same time as the loss is recognised
on the underying inswrance conlracts,
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& Mew Accounting Prenouncements (Continued)

. Other amendments: Other amendments include scope exclusions for some credit card (or similar)
contracts, and some loan confracts; presentalion of insurance coniract assets and liabiities in the
statement of financial position in portfolios instead of groups; applicability of the risk mitigation option
when miligating financial risks using reinsurance conlracts held and non-derivative financial
instrumants at fair value through profit or loss; an accounting policy choice to change the estimates
made in previpus interim financial siatements when applying IFRS 17; inclusion of income tax
payments and receipls that are specifically chargeable to the policyholder under the terms of an
insurance confract in the fulfiment cash flows, and selected fransition reliefs and other minor
amendments.

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Invesfor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments
to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued on 11 September 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on
or after a date to be determined by the IASB). These amendments address an inconsistency between the
requirements in IFRS 10 and those in 1AS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
insislos and ds associate or joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or
loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business. A partial gain or loss 5 recognised when a
ransaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assetls are held by a subsidiary.

Classification of Nabilitles as current or non-current = Amendments to IAS 1 (issued on 23 January
2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). These narrow scope
amendments clarify that labilites are classified as either current or non-current, depanding an the rights that
exist at the end of the reporting period. Liabilities are non-current if the entity has a substantive right, at the
end of the reporting period, to defer settlement for at least twelve months. The guidance no longer requires
such @ right to be unconditional. Management's expectations whether they will subsequently exercise the
right to defer setflement do not affect classification of labilities. The right to defer only exists if the entity
complies with any relevant condifions as of the end of the reporling period. A liability is classified as currend
if a condition is breached at or before the reporting date even if a waiver of that condition is oblained from
the lender after the end of the reporting period. Conversely, a loan is classified as non-curmant if a loan
covenanl is bréached only afler the reporling dale. In addition, the amendments include darifying the
classification requirements for debt a company might settle by converting it into equity. 'Settlement’ is defined
as the extinguishment of a liability with cash, other resources embodying economic benefits or an entity's
own equity instrumenis. Thare is an exceplion for convertible instruments that might be converted into equity,
but only for those instruments where the conversion oplion is cassified as an equity instrument as a separate
component of a compound financial instrument.

Classification of Kabllittes as curren! or non-current, deferral of effective date — Amendments to 145
1 (issved on 15 July 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). The
amendment to IAS 1 on classification of liabilities as current or mon-current was issued in January 2020 with
an orginal effective date 1 January 2022, However, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the effective date
was deferred by one year fo provide companies with more time to implement classification changes resulting
from the amended guidance,

Proceeds before infended use, Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract, Reference fo the
Conceptual Framework — narrow scope amendments fo [AS 16, [AS 37 and IFRS 3, and Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 - amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 (issued on
1d May 2020 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Janvary 2022). The amendment
to IAS 16 prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an fem of PPE any proceeds received from
selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. The proceeds from salling
such items, together with the costs of producing them, are now recognised in profit or loss, An entity will use
|AS 2 to measura the cost of those items. Cost will not include depreciation of the asset being tesled because
it is not ready for its intended use. The amendment to |AS 16 also clarifies that an enfity is ‘testing whether
the assel is functioning propery’ when it assesses the technical and physical performance of the assel. The
financial performance of the assel is not relevant (o this agsessmenl. An assel might therefore be capable of
operating as intended by management and subject fo depreciation before it has achieved the level of
operating performance expected by management,

The amendment to IAS 37 clarfies the meaning of 'costs to fulfil a contract’. The amendment explains that
ihi direct cost of fulfilling a confract comprises the incremental costs of fulfiling that contract; and an
allocation of other cosis that relate directly to fulfilling. The amendmen! also clarifies that, before a separate
provision for an onerous contract is established, an entity recognises any impairment loss that has oocurred
an assets used in fulfilling the contract, rather than on assels dedicated 1o thal contract.
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& New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

IFRE 3 was amended to refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporiing, in order to determine
what constifutes an asset or a lisbility in a business combination. Prior o the amendment, IFRS 3 referred to
the 2001 Concaptual Framewark for Financial Reporting. In addition, a new exception in IFRS 3 was added for
liabilities and contingent liabilities, The exceplion specifies that, for some types of liabilities and contingent
liabilities, an entity applying IFRS 3 should instead refer to LAS 37 or IFRIC 21, rather than the 2018 Conceptual
Framework. Wihout this new exception, an enlity would have recognised some liabdities in a business
combination that it would nod recognize under 1AS 37, Therefone, immediataly afier the acquisition, the antity
would have had o derecognise such labilites and recognise a gain thal did mol depict an sconomic gain,

It was also clarified that the acquirer should nol recognize conlingent assets, as defined in LAS 3T, al the
acquisition date.

The amendment to IFRS 9 addresses which fees should be indluded in the 10% lest for derecognition of
financial liabilities. Costs or fess could be paid to either third parties or the lender. Under the amendment, costs
of fees paid (o third parties will not be included in the 10% fest.

lllustrative Example 13 that accompanies IFRS 16 was amended 1o remove the illustration of payments from
the lessor relaling 1o leasehold improvementis. The reason for the amendment is to remove any polential
confusion about the treatment of lease incentives.

IFRS 1 allows am exemption i @ subsidiary adopts IFRS at a later date than its parenl. The subsidiary can
measure its assels and liabilities at the carrying amounts that would be included in its parent’s consolidated
financial stalements, based on the parents date of transition to IFRS, if no adjustments were made for
consolidation proceduras and for the effects of the business combination in which the parent acguired the
subsidiary. IFRS 1 was amended to allow entities ihal have taken this IFRS 1 exemption fo also measure
cumulative translation differences usng the amounts reported by the parent, based on the parent’s date of
transition 1o IFRS. The amendment to IFRS 1 extends the above exemption lo cumulative translation
differences, in order o reduce cosis for firsl-time adopters. This amendment will also apply 1o associates and
jmint ventures that have taken the same IFRS 1 exemption.

The reguirement for entites o exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value under 1AS 41 was
removed, This amandment i inténded fo align with the requirement in the standard to discount cash flows on
a post-tax basis,

Amendments fo IAS 8; Definition of Accounting Estimates (issued on 12 February 2021 and effective
for annual perfods beginning on or after 1 Janwary 2023), The amendment to LAS 8 darified how companies
should distinguish changes in accounting policies fram changes in accounting estimates.

Deferred tax related to assels and liabilities arising from a single transaction — Amendments fo JAS 12
(issued on 7 May 2021 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Janvary 2023). The
amendmenis to |1AS 12 specify how fo account for deferred fax on fransactions such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. In specified circumstances, entities are exempl from recognising defermed tax
when thay recognise assels or liabilties for the first time. Previously, there had been some uncerizinty aboud
whether the exemplion applied io fransaclions such as leases and decommissioning obligations = ransactions
for which both an asset and a liability are recognised. The amendments clarfy that the exemgplion does not
apply and that enlities are required to recognise deferred tax on such transactions, The amendments require
companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal amounts of
taxable and deductible termporary differences,

Cowvid-19-Related Rent Concessions - Amendments to IFRS 16 (issued on 31 March 2021 and effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021). In May 2020 an amendment to IFRS 16 was issued
that provided an optional practical expedient for lessees from agsessing whether a rent concession related to
COVID=19, resulting in a reduction in lease paymenis due on or before 30 June 2021, was a lease modification.
An amendmeant Bswed on 31 March 2021 axtended the date of the practical expedient from 30 June 2021 to
30 June 2022,

Linless otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to affect significantly
the Bank's fimancial staterments,
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7 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise;

2021 2020
Cash on hand 16,898 20,009
Current accounts wilth the CEAR 144, 144 44,329
Shor-teerm deposits placed in the CBAR - 14,703
Current accounts and avernight placements with other cradit institutions 42 468 93,848
Placemants {lerm deposis) - 11,084
Lass credit loss allowance {586) (#43)
Cash and cash equivalents 202,924 183,540

As a1 31 December 2021, the short-term deposits placed in the CBAR is nil (31 Decembar 2020: AZN 14,688
rmaturing until 11 January 2021 with the interest rates 5.76 - 6.01% p.a).

Current accounts with other credit institutions consist of interest bearing comrespondent account balances
with non-resident banks of amounting AZN 19,367 (31 December 2020; AZN T0,448).

The table below discloses the credit quality of cash and cash equivalenis balances based on credit risk
grades at 31 Decembar 2021. Refer 1o Note 23 for the description of the Bank's credit risk grading system.

Cash balances with tha Current  Placements Tatal
CBAR, exciuding accounts (lerm
mandatory reserves with other deposits)
cradit
Institutions
= Excallant - 26415 - 26,415
- Good 144 144 16,053 - 160,197
Less cradit loss allowance (535) (51} = (588)
Total cash and cash equivalents,
exciuding cash on hand 143,609 43417 - 186,026

For the purpose of ECL measurement cash and cash equivalents balances are included in Stage 1. Refer to
Mote 1 for the ECL measurement approach.
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7 Cash and Cash Equivalents {Continued)

The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents balances based on credit risk grades at 31 December 2020

is as follows:
Cash balances with Current  Placements Total
the CEBAR, excluding accounts {tarm
mandatory resenses with other deposils)
credil
institutions
= Excellent - 81,302 . 91,202
- Good 59,032 2,546 11.084 T2.672
Less credit loss allowance (222} {83) (128) (443)
Total cash and cash equivalents,
163,531

excluding cash on hand 58,810 93,758 10,966

As of 31 December 2021, the Bank had AZN 19,745 or 71% (31 December 2020: AZN 70,842 or 68%) of

tofal amounts with other credit institutions placed with ona counterparty (31 December 2020: one).

Information on refated party balances is disclosed in Note 25.
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8 Amounts Due from Credit Institutions

Amounts due from credit instiutions comprise:

2021 2020
Shor-term deposits placed in banks 20,804 9,712
Ouligatony reserve with the CBAR 1,708 1,756
Amounts due from cradit institulions (gross) 22,512 11,468
Less: allowance for impairment {136) (8)
Amounts due from credit institutions (net) 22,376 11,460

Credit institutions are required to maintain a non-interest earning cash deposit (obligatory reserve) with
the CBAR, the amount of which depends on the level of funds altracted by the credit institution. The Bank's
ability 1o withdraw such deposil iz significantly restricted by the statulory lagislation.

As al 31 December 2021, the Bank had short-term deposits placed in banks amounting to AZN 20,611 (2020:
AZN 9,690) maturing in Aug-Dec 2022 (2020: Feb-Aug 2021), with the annual interest rales of 1.30-2 4% p.a

(2020: 0.17-1.5% p.a.).

Analysis by credit guality of amounis due from credit institutions oulstanding at 31 December 2021, i5 as
follows: Refer to Mote 24 for the estimated fair value of each class of amounis due from credii institutions.
Interest rale analysis of due from credit institulions is disclosed in Nole 23, Informalion on refated party

balances s disclosed in Mote 25!

Stage 1 Total
{12-months ECL}
Placemeants with credil instiutions
- Good 22,512 22,512
Gross carrying amount 22512 22,512
Crodi kyss allowancs (136) {136)
Total due frem credit Institutlons [(carrying amount) 22,378 22,378

Analysis by credit quality of amounts due from credit institutions outstanding at 31 December 2020 is as

follows:
Stage 1 Total
(12-months ECL)

Placaments with credil inslitutions
= Good 11,468 11,4648
Gross carrying amount 11,468 11,468
Credil loss allowanco 8} {8}
Total due from credit instilutions (carrying amount) 11,460 11,4460
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9 Loans to Customers

Loang to cuslomers comprise,
31 Decermber 31 Decamber
2021 2020
Gross carmying amount of ipans lo cusiomers i AT i91,ar2 167,377
Less cradit loss allowance (41,703) {41,604)
Total carrying amount of loans (o customearns at AC 149,570 125,683
Tota kdits [0 Cusiomars 148,578 125,683

As al 31 December 2021, out of the fotal amount of loans 36.5% (2020: 26.3%) are denominaled in foreign
currencies.

Gross carrying amount and credit loss allowance amount for loans o customers at AC by classes at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are disclosed in the table below:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020 .

Gross Credit loss Carrying Gross  Credit loss Carrying
carrying  allowance amount carrying  allowance arnaunt

amount amount

Loans o corporate |

comimencial customears 1171 22 408 B4.613 5 450 21,375 75124
Loans io SME 14,758 8.550 6,200 15,326 8,230 F.005
Consumer Loans 41,680 88582 32,7184 41,535 10,692 30,843
Fesidental Morgage loans 17 852 1,684 15, G a7 1,397 12,620
Toial inans 10 cusiomers 191,372 41,793 148,578 167,377 41,604 125,683

More defalled explanation of classes of loans to legal entities s provided below:;
& Loans to corporate ! commerciad customers — loans issued to commerncial entifies
= Loans o SME - leans issued lo small and medium-sized enlerprises;
=  Consumer Loans — loans issued lo individuals for personal needs;
= Residential Morigage loans - loans issued to individuals for mortgage purposes.

The fallowing table discloses the changes in the credit loss allowance and gross carrying amount for loans
to customers carried at amortised cost between the beginning and the end of the reporting period and
comparative pernods
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a Loans to Customers (Continued)

Cradit loss allowance

Stage 1 Stage2 Siagel Total
{12- (Wetima (lifatime
montha ECL for ECL for
ECL) SICR)  credit
Im-
paired)

Gross camying amount
Stage 1 Stagel Stagel Total
(12- [lifetirme  (lifetime
months ECL for ECL for
ECL) SICR) credit
Im-

paired)

Loans fo corporate £
commercial customers

At 31 Decamber 2020 | 2875 18168 21,375

Movamenls with Impact on

credh foss alfowance change

o e i
Transfers:
- {0 Metime {from Stage 1 1o

Stage 2) (15} 113 = e
- {0 credit-impaired (from

Stage 1 and Stage 2 1o

Stage 3) = (2918) 5EMN 2,315
= 1o 12-rmonths ECL {rom

Stage 2 and Stage 3 o

Slage 1) 24 (30} = 6]
Mew originated or purchasad 280 - - 2BD
Repaid during the pericd [Ny ] [ 156) {8}
Changes In accied inlarast - - - -
Partial regay mant (14} (22} (1486} (1.502)
Other movemeants - - 2714 2774
Modification of contraciual
cash flows - . (47h (47

46,311 15886 34,302 0E, 400

(689)  GA9 ;
{6,126) 6,126

45842 (4642 -
48,017 . - 48017
(18 488 {46 (a7 {‘-I‘.?.Eﬂﬁ-:l

. - 1778 1,778
(3.512)  (99) (1.572)  (5.183)

= s =

Total movements  with
impact on credit loss
allowance change for the
pariod 176 (2,856) 6,206 3,618

27,070 (10,224) 5358 23,105

Movemants wilthow! impac!
o credi ioss aliowance
charg for the perod:
Wila-offs - - [2403) ([2493)

- - (2483)  (2,493)

At 31 December 2021 407 118 2972 224338

74,281 58682 3TAEE  NMT.MNM




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaifan CJ5C
MNaotes fa the Financial Siatemanis — 31 December 2029
{Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbajjani Manats)

g Loans to Customers (Continued)
Credit loss allowance Gross carrying amount
Slage 1 Staged Stage 3 Total Stage1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
(12- (lifetime (lifetime {12- (lifetime (lifetime
manths ECLfor ECL for months ECL for ECL for
ECL) SICR}  credit ECL) SICR)  credit
im- im-
paired) paired)
Loans to corporate /
eommimarcial customers
At 31 December 2015 are 2015 20930 23323 BB, 3 7032 33,755 129808
Mavmmenls wilh impact on
credd foss alowance charge
for the period:
Transhers:
= b Efetirmee (from Stage 1 1o
Stage 2) (107] 6 - 857  (11.47T6) 11478 - 5
= lo erpdifl-impaired (fom
Slage 1 and Stage 2 to
Stage 3) (9] (52) 953 ag2 (1,72 ([2850) 4588
= 1o 12-mpnths ECL (from
Staga 2 and Stage 3 to
Siage 1) . . . « 5 - z -
Mesw ariginated or purchased 217 136 - 353 33,766 446 - 34,212
Repaid during the period {77} - [1.408) ({1.483) [(16.122) () (2.568) (18,692)
Changes in accnesd interest - . . - 3 & 2 683 2 BRI
Partial repayment (153) {Z2G) 1513) (BO2) [46,449) (904) (2.364) (49.717)
Other movements - - - . - - - -
Modification of contractual
cash flows (18) 138 - 120 - - - =
Total movements  with
impact on credit loss
allowance charge for the
period {147) 960  (966)  (153) (42,010) 8,154 2,342  (31.514)
Movameants withow! impec!
on credif loss allowanca
change for the pariod;
Writi-offs - - (1,795} (1,795) - - {L7O5) (1,705
At 31 Dacember 2020 an 2878 1B,188 21,375 46.311 15886 34,302 96,450
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Notes o the Financial Statements - 37 Decembar 2027
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaijani Manatzs)

9 Loans to Customers (Continued)
Credit loss allowance Gross carrying amount
Stage i Stage2 Stage3l Total Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total
{12- (lifetime (lifetime {12- (lifetime (lifatime
months ECL for ECL for months ECL for ECL for
ECL) SICR)  credit ECL) SICR)  credit
ifm- im-
paired) paired)
Loans to SME
At 31 Decamber 2020 13 " 8,206 8,230 T3 1,715 12,888 15328
Mavemanls vath impasf on
cradif oes alfowance chanps
for the perod:
Transfers:
= b cradil-impaired (from
Stege 1 and Stage 2 1o
Stage 3) {16 (1) 1,333 1.306 (19% (1,715 1,734
=ta 12-monihs ECL (from
Stage 2 and Stage 3 o
Stage 1) 1 = = = = =
Maw originated or purchasad 28 - - st 1,448 - - 1,449
Repaid during the pericd . - {588}  (588) - - (B18) (618
Changes in aceruad ineras - . = - - 472 472
Partial repsaymant e - (440} (447) [502) - {T25) (1,227
Cahar movemnents - - Gad G2 - - . .
Total movements with
impact on credit loss
allowance charge for the
period ] (1) 976 ar 828 (1.715) BEZ TS
Movemants withow! impac]
o credil foss allowance
charge for the parfod:
Write-offs {E42) (642} - - {E42) {Ba42)
At 31 Decembar 2021 18 - 8.540 8,559 1,641 13,118 14,759
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(Amounts expressed in thousands of Arerbaliani Manals)

8 Loans to Customers (Continued)
Credit loss allowance ﬂl’?_ll amount
Stage1 Stage2 Staged Total Siagei1 Staged Stage 3 Total
(12- (Ifetima (lifatime (12-  ([lifetime (lifetime
montha ECL far ECL for months ECL for ECL for
ECL} SICR) crodit ECL) SICR) cradit
im- im-=
paired) pairgd)
Loans to SME
Al 31 December 2019 14 Fa | 8,275 B310 2,240 48 12,657 14,846
Movamands with impac on
credi! hoss alfowance chanps
for the pericd.
Transhers:
= {0 [ifetime (from Stage 1 o
Stage 2) (11 17 = 6 (1.787) 1,797
= |0 ehsdil-impaired (from
Slage 1 and Stage 2 to
Stage 3) - (5) 65 B0 . {85) B5 -
New ariginaled o puwehased g - L] 17 7ar 1 4 747
Repaid during the pariod - (94) (98] {38) (3 (210 [2561)
in @scrueid inlanes = - - - - - 570 574
Partial repayment (8) (22) - {28) (429) [44) {165) (B38)
Other movemeants - - . - 2 F t -
Modification of  conlbractual
cash flows ] 12 M0 - - -
Total movernents with
impact on eredit loss
allowance charge for tha
pariod {1 {10} [12) (23} (1,527) 1,668 298 437
Movemenls withow impac!
on oradt loss aliowanca
charge for the panod:
Write-offs BT (57) - - (571 {57
At 31 Decembar 2020 13 11 8206 B.230 713 1,715 12898 15,328




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaifan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements — 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats)

9 Loans to Customers {Continued)

Credit loss allowance Gross carrylng amount
Stagn1 Stage Stage3 Total Stage1 Stage2 Slagel Todal
(12~ 2 (lifetime (12- (lifetime (lifetims
months (lifetim ECL for months ECL for ECL for
ECL] ®ECL  credit ECL) SICR) credit
for - im-
SICR)  paired) paired)
Consumer loans
At 31 Decamber 2020 134 56 10,502 10,602 27,558 1323 12,656 41,535
Movements with impact on
credif koss afowance chage
Transfers;
- b0 lifetirme (from Stage 1 to
Stage 2) (49) 265 - 216 (1,623 1623 -
= b crizdit-impaired {from
Stage 1 and Stage 2 to
Stage 3) {42) (17} 358 209 [3ET) [328) 695 -
=l 12-monihs ECL (from
Stage 2 and Stage 3 to
Stage 1) L] (20} (9] {23) 268 {268) {18} (18]
Hew oniginabed or purchased 208 - . 208 13,937 - - 13,937
Repaid during the period (28) (18) (348) (585) (5331} (408) (655) (6,454)
Changes in accrued inbenest - - - - . . G607 eaT
Fartial rapayment (i1} (8} (1.432) (1,451) {6,040) (109) (1790 (7.939)
Othier mawaments = = 481 451 - - - =
Modification of contractual
cash flows i i 2 4 - -
Tatal movements with
impact on credit loss
allowance charge for the
ptFicd B4 03 (2411} (1,824) Ta2 51z (1,162 132
Movements withowt impach
on craal loss allgwance
charge for the peniod:
Wite-offs - [ 16]) [ 16) - i 16) {18}
At 31 December 2021 218 259 8375 B,852 28,338 1,835 11478 41,651
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Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statemenis — 31 December 2021
(Amounts exprassed in thousands of Azerbaijani Manats)

! Loans to Customers (Continued)

Credit loss allowance Gross carrying amount
Stage1 Stage Stage3  Total Stagei1 Stage2 Stagel Total
[12- 2 (lifetime {12- (lifetime (lifetimo
monthes (lifetim ECL for maonths ECL for ECL for
ECL) eECL credit ECL) SICR)  credit
far im- im-
SICR] _ paired) paired)
Consumer loans
At 31 December 2019 1,439 109 B,E683 10,241 are13 1,866 9,817 49,096
Movemanis with impac! on
craait loss allowance charge
for [t pariond:
Translars:
- 1o lifetime (from Slage 1 to
Slage 2) (26) 302 - 366 (7.570) 7570 . -
= o crefit-impasred (from
Siage 1 and Staga 2 to
Slage 3) = (B4) 837 753 (2 (1471) 1473 -
= o 12-months ECL (fom
Stage 2 and Stage 3 o
Stage 1) 18 {265) (3)  (250) 4604  (4,600) {4) =
Mew oniginaled of purchasad 388 15 . 4 25,587 144 = 25711
Repaid during the period (26} (10} {234) (274} {541T) {185) [Z8T) (5,903)
Changes in accrued inberes| - - - - - - S5 564
Partial rapaymenl 11,657) {84 1.524 (227) (27238} (1.987) 1812 (27.624)
Otheier movaments : E - - - - = -
Meodification of contractual
cash flows - {7 (2] (=)
Total movemants with
impact on credit loss
allowance charge for the
period (1.305) (33) 2,118 TED  (10,057) (343) 3,348 (r.23d)
Movermants withow! impact
an credif loss aiowance
charge for the poviod:
Wite-offs - - {30H) [ 308 - - {308 {308)
At 31 December 2020 134 56 10,502 40,682 27,558 1,323 12,656 41,535

az



Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CISC
MNotes to the Financial Statemants = 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbajani Manats)

E: Leans to Customers (Continwed)

Credit loss allowance Gross carrying amount
Stage 1 Stage2 Stagel  Total Stagei Stage2 Stage3  Total
{12- (lifetime (lifetime (12- (lifetime (lifetime
months ECLfor ECGL for months ECL for ECL for
ECL) SICR} credit ECL) SICR)  credit
im- im-
paired) paired)
Rezidential morigage loans
At 31 December 2020 ] 1 1,377 1,387 11,307 434 22T 14,047
Movements with impact on
cripcll hoss alowance charge
for the perniod:
Transfers:
= ler ifledirre [from Stage 1 1o
Stage Z) (51} 216 - g Li] {339) 330
- o credii-impaired (from
Stage 1 and Stage 2 to
Stage 3) - (1} T 70 {100} {124) 224
- to 12-months ECL (from
Slage 2 and Stage 3 o
Stage 1) 1 - - 1 20 {201 -
Mew oniginated or purchased &3 - - B3 5,BEE - - 5,866
Fepaild during the period i) - (236) (23T} [733) (12} [(361)  (1,1086)
Changes in accrued interest - . . - - - ar ar
Partial repaymant {d) . (38} (40) [602) 123) {332) (1,017
Cither mowvements 6 47 342 450 - s - -
Total movements with
impact on credit loss
allowance charge for the
pariod B8 262 141 491 4293 (21} (432} 3,840
Movemenis wathout impact
o Credif inss alcwance
chape for e period:
Wirile-offs = - i3 (3) - = {3 ()
At 31 December 2021 107 263 1,515 1,885 15,600 413 1,841 17854

KR



Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Nates o the Financial Staterments — 31 December 2021

{Amounis expreszed in thousands of Azerbaiiani Manals)

9 Loans to Customers (Continued)
Crodit loss allowance Gross carrying amount
Stage1 Stage2 Stage3d Total 5Stagei Stagel Stage3 Total
{12- (lifetima (lifetima (12- (lifetime (lifetime
monthe ECL for ECL for months ECL for ECL for
ECL}) SICR) cradit ECL) BICR) cradit
im- im-
paired) paired)
Residantlal mortgage loans
At 31 December 2018 88 2 1.551 1,619 T.BE2 176 2463 10,31
Mpvemenis with impact on
credt foss allowance charge
for the pariod:
Transiers:
= b lifetima {from Stage 1 to
Stage 2) (1 3 - 2 (1.608) 1,606
« o Cripdif-impavingd {from
Stage 1 and Siage 2 1o
Staga 3) . . 3s a5 (&2} {17} ra -
= la 12-months ECL (from
Stage 2 and Stage 3 o
Stage 1) 2 i2) (51} 81} 1443 (1.326) (107) -
Hew originaled or purchasad & - B 16 4,795 b ] 1 4,905
Repaid during the paiod - - (55} 156) ([ 206) (28] {110) [3E4)
Changes in accrued nferes) . - - - - - 115 115
Partial repaymant {56) {2 (v {135) [739) (26) {141) [SDE)
Other movemants E ] . - - - - -
Total movements with
impact on credit loss
allowance charge for the
period (4T} {1} (140) (188) 3,628 258 {153) 3,730
Movaminls withouf impac
on credil Joes afowance
charge for the pesiod
Wil e-ofts . : {34) (34} 5 = (34} (34
At 31 Decamber 2020 18 1 1,377 1,387 11,307 434 2276 14017

The credil loss allowance for loans to customers recognised in the period is impacted by a variaty of factors.
Detais of ECL measurement are provided in Note 23, The main reasons for movements are as follows:

Transfers between Stage 1, 2 and 3 due lo balances experiencing significant increases (or
decreases) of credit risk or bacoming credit-impaired in the period, and the conseqguent "step up” (or
"siep down”) between 12-month and Lifetime ECL,

Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well 33 releases
for financial instruments derecognised in the period;

Write-offs of allowances related to assets that were written off during the period.




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaljan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Staterments = 31 December 2021
{Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaifani Manals)

9 Loans to Customers (Continued)
Allowance for impairment of loans to customars

Information about collateral at 31 December 2021 is as follows:

Corporate Small Consumer Residential Tatal
lending business lending marigages
lending

Unsacuned loans 40,765 3.8 40,748 Ti1 BE,115
Loans collateralized by:
Real estats 67,226 10,603 333 T4 85,353
Cash deposits 5.106 - 158 - 5,265
Dithar assels 4014 i 410 - 4,500
Less impairmant provisions (22 468) (8, 5840) {8,852 (1.884) (41,783}
Total leans to customars 84,613 6,200 32,708 15,868 149,579

Information about collateral at 31 December 2020 is as follows:

Corporate Small Consumer Residential Tatal
lending business lending morigages
landing

Unsisturad kbans 15,121 2642 40 458 al4 58,635
Loans collateralized by:
Real estate 12,370 12 503 A&7 13,542 98 932
Cash deposils 5,831 . 105 - 5,936
Ciher assels 3,303 177 204 - 3,874
Lesss impairmisn] provisions {21.375) (B, 230) { 10,652) {1,307 (41,654)
Total loans o customens 75,250 T.082 nTTE 12,5649 125 683

Other agssets mainly include vehicles and eguipment. The disclosure above represents the lower of the
carrying value of ihe loan or collateral taken; the remaining part is disclosed within the unsecured expasuras,
The camrying value of loans was allocaled based on liquidity of the assels taken as collateral,

Il s the Bank's policy o maintain accurale and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio. This
facilitates focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all
lives of business and products. The rating system is supported by a variety of financial analytics, combined
with processed market information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of counterparty risk, All
internal risk ratings are tailored io the varipus categories and are derived in accordance with the Bank’s raling
policy. The attributable risk ralings are assessad and updated regularty.

Loans to customars and other financial assets with good financial position and good debt service are included
in the slandard grade. Sub-standard grade comprizes loans below standard grade thal had changes in
the terms and conditions of loan agreements, but not individually impaired.

The following tables contain amalyses of the credit risk exposure of loans o customers measured at AC and
for which ECL allowance is recognised. The carmying amount of loans fo cusiomers below also represenis
the Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk on these loans,




Yapl Kredi Bank Azrerbaljan CJSC

Notfes fo the Financial Statements = 31 Decembar 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaijani Manals)

Loans to Customers (Continued)

Analysis by credit guality of loans outstanding al 31 December 2021 is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
(12-months  (Ifetime ECL for  (lifetime ECL for
ECL) SICR)  ecredit im-paired)

Corporate lending
Lass than 30 d 74,281 5.570 3,660 B35
30 ko 90 days overdus - a2 - a2
81-180 days overdus - 9928 0,928
181 to 360 days overdus - 718 T8
Onvar 260 days ovardua - 22,862 22,862
Gross carrying amount Td,281 5,662 3T 168 117,111
Credit Inas allgwanos {407 (119} {21,872) (22.498)
Carrying amount 71875 5,543 15,198 94,613
Smal business faenaing
Lass than 30 days 1,641 2,279 3,920
81-180 days owerdua = 1,074 1,074
Owver 360 days overdue - - 8,764 9,764
Gross carrying amount 1,641 - 13,118 14,758
Cradit loss allowance (18] - {B.540) (8. 555)
Carrying amount 1,622 - 4,578 6,200
Cansurmar landing
Less than 30 days 28,338 1112 851 30,341
30 to 90 days ovendue - T23 251 474
91180 days overdue - BT 879
181 to 360 days overdue - 439 439
Owvar 380 days overdue - 4018 8,018
Gross carrying amount 28,328 1,835 11,478 41,650
Credit loss allowance (Z218) (258) (8,375) {8,852)
Carrying amount 28,120 1.575 3,103 32,788
Residaniial morfgags Ioans
Less than 30 days 15,600 278 ar 15,8975
30 to 8 days ovardua - 134 BG 220
81-180 days overdue - - 108 109
Owver 360 days overdus - - 1,547 1,547
Gross carrying amount 15,600 413 1,839 17,852
Cradi lnss allowance (107} (283) (1,514} (1,584}
Carrying amaunt 15,454 150 325 15,9638




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaifan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements — 31 December 2021
(Amounts exprassed in thousands of Azacbaijani Manals)

Loans to Customers [Continued)

Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2020 is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
{12-months  (lifetime ECL for  (lifetime ECL for
ECL) SICR)  credit Im-paired]
Corporate lending
Lass than 30 days 46,311 13,185 4,560 54,066
30 to B0 days overdus - 2,684 - 2,684
91-180 days overdus . 7 - T
181 to J60 days overdua - - di 44
Crear 360 days overdus - 29,826 20 826
Gross carmying amount 48,311 15,8B6 34,430 B6,62T
Craedit bosis allowance (231} 2,975) (18.170) (21,378}
Carrying amount 46,080 12,811 16,260 T5.251
Srmal business lending
Less than 30 days 713 1,715 183 2611
30 1o 90 days ovendus - - - -
91180 days ovardua - - -
181 to 360 days overdus - o
Cwer 360 days overdui - 12,711 12,711
Gross carrying amount 713 1,715 12,884 15,322
Credil Iogs allewancs {13 {11) (8.206) {8, 230)
Carrying amount ToO 1,704 4,6EB L
Conzumar famding
Less than 30 days 27063 447 2583 30,103
30 to 90 days overdua 443 BTG BA 1,438
91-180 days ovendus - - 124 124
181 bo 360 days overdue = = a0 Tad
Ower 360 diy's ovendut - - 8,008 8,009
Gross carrying amount 27,550 1,323 14,585 41, 464
Coraedil boss allowanca (134} (63} [10,495) (10,692)
Carrying amount 2T 422 1,260 2,090 o772
Residential morigage loans
Less than 30 days 11,130 283 - 11,413
30 to $) days overdue 174 151 s am
81-180 days overdug - - 5 -
181 1o 360 days owendus - - -
Owver 360 days overdue 2,222 2222
Gross carrying amoaunt 11,308 434 2,224 13,968
Cradit loss alowance {18]) (1) {1,378} {1,397)
Carrying amount 11,280 433 BdE 12,560

ar



Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements = 31 December 2021
(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaiiani Manatz)

L Loans to Customaers (Continued)

Impairment assessment. The main considerations for the loan impairmen! assessment are based on
the information provided by the roll-rale model, which measures the movement of the past due amounts
balances in various lime brackets. The Bank addresses impairment assessment in two areas: individually
assessed allowances and colleclively assessed allowances.

Individually assessed allowances. The Bank determines the allowances appropriate for each individualty
significant loan on an individual basis. tems considered when delermining allowance amounts include
the sustainability of the counterparty’s business plan, its ability to improve perfformance once a financial
difficulty has arisen, projected receipts and the expected dividend payout should bankrupicy ensue,
the availability of olher financial support and the realizable value of collateral, the timing of the expected cash
flows and expected recoverability of unsecured portion based on management estimales. The impairment
losses are evaluated at each reporting date, unless unforeseen circumstances require more careful attention.

Coflsctively assessed afowances. Allowancaes are assessed collectively for losses on loans to cusiomers
that are nol individually significant (including credit cards, residential mortgages and unsecurad consumer
lending) and for individually significant loans where there is not yet objective evidence of individual
impairment. Allowances are evaluated on each reporling date with each portfolio recaiving a separate reviaw.
The collective assessment takes account of impairment that is likefy to be present in the portfolio even though
there is no yet objective evidence of the impairment In an individual assessmant.

Impalrment losses are estimated by taking into consideration the roll-rate model assessment,
The impairment allowance is then reviewed by credit management to ensure alignment with the Bank's
overall policy,

Financial guarantees and letlers of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans.

The primary factors that the Bank congiders in determining whether a loan is impaired are its overdue status
and realis ability of related collateral, if any. As a result, the Bank presents above an ageing analysis of lnans
that are individually determined to be impaired,

The financial effect of collateral i presented by disclosing collateral values separately for (i) those assets
where collateral and other credit enhancements are equal to or exceed carmying value of the asset ["over-
collateralised assets™) and (i) those assels where collaleral and other credit enhancaments are less than the
carrying value of the asset ("under-collateralised assets”)

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2021:

Over-collateralized Under-collateralized
Assets a Assals
Carrying value Fair value of Carrnying value Falr valua of
of the assets collateral  of the assets collateral
Corporata kanding 47,267 136,104 AT 33T 10,464
Small business. lemding 2618 g.818 3,542 5,134
Consumar kending 64 2376 32,434 170
Rasidential mortgages 15,766 33708 b ) | 160
The effect of collateral at 31 December 2020:
Dver-collateralised Under-collateralised
Assets = Assets
Carrying value Fair value of Carrying value Falr value aof
of the assets collateral  of the assets callateral
Corporate lending 48,457 97 485 25,668 T.206
Small business lending 3,395 8,505 a7 1,066
Consumear ending 850 2,258 24,9492 146
Residantial mortlgages 12,619 24 86T 1 #




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaijan CJSC
Nates to the Financial Statements — 31 December 2021

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbajfani Manats)

L Loans to Customers (Continued)

Individually impaired loans

As at 31 December 2021, loans in the amount of AZN 44, 182 (2020: AZN 43,001) were assessed indvidually.
An individual impairment allowance of AZN 26,531 (2020: AZN 26,626) were recognized for such loans.

In accordance with the CBAR requirements, loans may only be written off with the approval of
the Supervisory Board and, in certain cases, with the respective decision of the Court. During 2021, loans in
a iofal amount of AZN 3,154 were written-off (2020: AZN 2,185).

Caollateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.
Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

- for corporate lending = charges over real estate and trade receivables, third party guarantees:;
4 for consumer lending - cash, charges over crediled consumer appliances and mortgages over
residential properiies;
«  for aulo lending — cash and liens over vehicles,
Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with
the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of
the adequacy of the allowance for loan impairment.

Concentratlon of loans to customers

As of 31 December 2021, the Bank had a conceniration of loans represented by AZN 27 406 or 14% of gross
loan portfolio (2020: AZN 41 436 or 25%) due from ten (2020: ten) largest third party borrowers.

Loans have been extended to the following types of customers (amounts are presented prior to allowance):

2021 2000
Frivata companies 11711 06,627
Individuals 74,261 T, 75D
Gross loans (o customars 191,372 167 37T

Loans are provided within Azerbaijan in the following indusiry sectors (amounts are presented prior o
allowance):

203 200
Individuats Td 261 T0.750
Trading enlerprises 71,052 58,806
Real estate construction 30,395 23,347
Manufacturing 15,664 14,454
Gross [oans to cusiomers 191,372 167377

Refer o Note 24 for the estimated fair value of each class of loans to cuslomers, Maturity analysis of loans
to customers is disclosed in Nole 23 . Information on related party balances is declosed in Nole 25.




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaifan CJSC
Notes to the Financial Statements — 31 December 2021
{Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbaifani Manals)

10 Investments in debt and equity securities

3 .= 2021 2020
Notes issued by the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan (CBAR) 13,318 20,311
Bonds issued by tha Ministry of Financa of Azerbaljan Republic - 2815
Othar 240 it
Less credit boss allowarncy (93} {50)
Total 13,505 23,096

As of 31 December 2021, all Notes issued by the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan (CBAR) and
Other Bonds were classified as Stage 1.

Mominal interest rates and maturities of debt securities are as follows:

2021 2024
Annual Annual
interest rate  Maturity interest rate Maturity
HNobes issued by the CBAR 6.01% January, 202 5.76% - 6,01%  Jamapry, 2021
Bonds issued by the Ministry of Finance of
Azerbaijan Republic - B.46% - B.79%  March, 2021

Motes from CBAR has original maturity of 28 days and as per Bank policy represenis cash and cash
equivalents, Motes from CBAR are neither past due nor impaired.

After the revaluation of tha share of Baku Stock Exchange Fund from AZN 0.2 to 0.8 per share in February
2021, the ownership amound of the Bank has increased from AZN 60 o AZN 240,

Al debl securities are measured al amortised cost. The credit quality of the debt securities is good. Refer to
Nole 22 for the description of the Bank's credil risk grading system.

Refer 1o Note 24 for the estimated fair value of notes issued by Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan
and ather bonds,
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11 Property and Equipment

The movements in tangible assets were as follows:;

Leasehold Computars Furnitura Mator Total
improvemants and office and fixtures wvahicles
equipment

Cost

31 Decamber 2020 8,880 15,904 2,030 114 28,938
Additions 22 381 59 145 611
Disposals * {124) {15) (85) (234)
Transfers 3 G i3} o =
31 Decambser 20Z1 8815 16,161 2,07 168 2718
Accumulated depreciation

31 December 2020 (7, 5d8) {12,881) (1,887} (110 (22,836)
Depreciation changa {62B) [BE2} (34} (21} {1,665)
Disposals - 2 14 91 107
3 December 2024 (8,576) (13.B41) [1,937) (40) {24,364)
Het book value

31 Decembar 2020 a4z 3,023 113 ] 4,102
31 December 2021 338 2,320 134 128 2.8

Leasahold Caomputers Furnitune Motor Total
improvemenis and office and fixtures wvahicles
equipment

Cosi

31 December 2010 8,858 13,782 2,023 111 24,784
Additions 32 2112 ) 3 2,154
31 December 2020 B850 15,904 2,030 114 26,938
Accumulated depreciation

31 Decembar 2049 (7.326) {11,628) (1,849} [107) [20,910)
Depreciation change [622) (1,253) (48) 3 (1.926)
31 December 2030 (7. BB (12,681) {1,887} (110} (22,836)
Met book value
31 December 2018 1,532 2,184 174 4 3874
31 December 2020 g42 3,023 133 4 4.102

As al 31 December 2021 gross carrying amount of fully depreciated properly and equipment was AZMN 13,452

(2020 AZN 12,213).
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12 Intangible Assets

The mowarmenis in infangible assets were as follows;

Licensas Compuber Total
softwane
Cost
31 Deceamber 2020 11,877 12,578 24 256
Addditions =i 820 1.810
31 December 2021 12,887 13,399 26,068
Aceumulaled amortization
31 December 2020 (10,860) (5.718) (16,578)
Amortization charge (941} {1.357) (2.298)
31 Decamber 2021 {11.801) (7.0T6) (18,877)
Het book valua
31 December 2020 BT 6,860 T.877
31 Decembaer 2021 a66 6,323 7.189
Licensas Casrmpiitis Total
software
Cost
31 Decembar 2018 10,692 11,273 21,985
Addilions Ga% 1.314 2,289
Disposals - [5) (5]
Transfars . (3 [3)
3 December 2020 11,677 12,578 24 256
Accumulated amortization
M December 2019 (9,534) (4, 541) (14,075}
Amorization charge [1.226) (1.178) {2,504 )
31 December 2020 [10,860) {5, 719) (16.579)
Heat book value
31 December 2018 1,158 6,732 7,830
31 December 2020 817 6,860 TETT

As at 31 December 2021 gross carrying amount of fully amortized intangible assets was AZM 11,797 (2020:
AZN 10.262).
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3 Right of Use Assets and Lease Liabilities

The Bank leases buildings, vehicles and others. Rental confracts are typically made for fixed periods but may
have extension oplions.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Bank elected not to separate lease and
norn-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease companent.

Lease lerms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assels may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of leases across the Bank. These are used o
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assels used in the Bank's cperations. The majority
of extension and termination options held are exercisable by both the Bank and the respective lessors.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability from the
date when the leased asset becomes available for use by the Bank.

The right of use assels by class of underlying lems is analysed as follows:

Buildings Wehicles Other Todal
Carrying amaun af

J1 Decomber 2020 5.534 129 49 5812
Additions - - & ]
Depreciation charge {1.972) [192) (125) (2.289)
Modifications 7498 - 170 T,666

Carrying amount at
31 Docomber 2021 11,058 137 100 11,285

Interest expanse on lease labilities in 2021 was AZN 327 (2020: AZN 330). Total cash outflow for leases in
2021 was AZN 2,553 (2020: AZN 2, 448).

Al the end of each reporting period, the expecled residual values are reviewed 1o reflect aclual residual
walues achisved on comparable assets and expectations about fulure prices. As at 31 December 2021, AZN
12,558 (2020: AZN 6,968) is expecied to ba payable and is included in calculating the lease liabilities.

Buildings Vehiclas Other Total
Carrying amaunt of

T Januwary 2020 5,392 350 - 5,751
Additions 5,905 GE0 158 6,743
Disposals {3.847) {518) . {4,385)
Depreciation changs [1.816) (192} (109) [2,217)

Carrying amount at
31 December 2020 5,534 39 49 5812
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14 Income Taxes

The corporate iNcome [3x expense Comprises:

201 2020
Current tax charge (528} (344}
Defermad income tax (expense) | credit for the year (£73) 3040
Income tax expense (988} (145)

Standard corporate income tax rate for companies (including banks) comprised 20% for 2021 and 2020.
The effective income tax rate differs from the statulory income tax rates. A reconciliation of the income tax
expense based on statutory rates with actual is as follows:

2021 2020
(Loss) | Profit before tax (2,329) 3473
Statulory tax rate 20% 20%
Theoretical tax credit / [charge) at the statutory rate 466 (B05)
Tax affect of #emse which are nol deductible or assessabls
T MR AOn (s s:
Impact of non-daductible and obher parmanen expenses (1,186) 476
Imipact of prior yaar lax expense {27a) T4
Income tax expense (999) (145}

Deferred lax assats and liabilities as at 31 December and their movements for the respective years comprise:
2018  Credited! (charged) to 2020  Creditedl (charged) {o 2021

profit or loss profil or loss
Tax affect of femporary
differarnces

Cash and cash aquivalenis 44 45 8a 28 17
Imwestment in debd and equity

BECUrites 3B (20 18 (7} 11
Amaunis due frem credit

institutions (50) - (50) (1% (51)
Loans fo customerns {2.987) 306 {2,681) (271} {2,.952)
Property and equiprmient a7 az 429 (134} 295
Intangibla assels (95) 23 {72} (18) (e
Other liabilites 293 (44} 540 (66} 483
Other assats {56) 57 1 (4} (3
Deferrad tax liability {2.118) 3 (1,77 [473) (2.180)
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15 Other Assets and Liabilities

Other assets comprise:

2021 2020
Armounts in the eourse of settlement 5,039 2871
Other financial assets 3,039 2871
Ripossessid colaiaral 3,226 2,569
Prepaymeants 1,524 1.607
Tax Recatvables 207 3az
Ot i1 B
Other non-financial assets 4,008 4 BG4
Crther asseis B.037 T.838

As of 31 December 2021, repossessed collaleral in the amount of AZN 3,226 (31 December 2020: AZM
2,569) is represented by seventeen (31 December 2020: seventeen) immovable property, which the Bank
took possession of, and is available for sale, It is the Bank's policy to dispose of repossessed properties in
an orderly fashion. The proceads will be used lo reduce or repay the outstanding loans.

As at 31 December 2021, prepayments of AZN 1,524 (20200 AZN 1,607) primarily comprise of advance

paymenis for purchase of property, equipment and insuranca.

Uitiher liabilres comprise:

2021 2020
Luasn Liabilities 1,07 5297
Seflaments on plastic cards 2,880 1,894
Ciher 8oy £85
Other financial liabilithes 14,704 T.781
Accrued employes cosis 1,168 1.714
Payables o social unds 2549 422
Dederred income a2 3az
Provisions 115 136
Cither a0d aar
Other non-financial Habiliies 2,772 3,565
Other llabilities 17476 11,376

Accrued emplovee costs include bonuses for employees based on the financial performance of the Bank of

AZN 548 (2020: AZN 1,043) and an accrual for unused vacations of AZN 620 (2020: AZN 675).

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, deferred income represents deferred revenue which was primarily
comprised of fee received for issuance of plastic cards, guarantees and letter of credits.

As at 31 Decembear 2021, AZN 614 (2020: AZN 827) of other non-financial liabilities & other tax labdities.
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15  Other Assets and Liabilities (Continued)

Analysis by cradit quality of other financial assets outstanding at 31 December is as follows:

Settlernents on money transfers 2021 20d0
Neither past due mor impained
Other financial assets
Good 3,033 2871
Tatal other financlal assets 3,039 2.5
16 Amaounts Dus to Cradit Institutions

Amounts due to credit institutions comprise;

2021 2020
Amounts due to Azerbaijan Mongage and Credil Guarantes Fund 15,312 8,360
Amaurits due 1o the Entreprensurship Development Fund of the
Republic of Azerbaian 4 BER 3605
Demand deposils & 7
Amounts due to credit institutions 20,207 11,872

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank had loans financed by the Azerbaijan Morigage and Credit Guaranies
Fund and the Entrepreneurship Development Fund of the Republic of Azerbaijan amounting o AZN 15,312
(2020: AZM B,360) and AZN 4,889 (2020: AZN 3,605) maturing in 2050 (2020; 2050) and 2026 (2020; 2024),
with the annual interest rates of 1-4% p.a. (2020; 1-4% p.a.) and 1% p.a. (2020: 1% p.a.), respectivaly.

17 Amounts Due to Customers

The amounts dus to customers include the following:

™ 2021 2020
Currant accounts 261274 216,856
Term daposis 25150 32707
Amounis due Lo Cuslomers 286,424 248,563

As at 31 December 2021, amounts due to customers of AZN 123,598 or 43% (2020: AZN 103,987 or 42%)
of tofal amounts due to customers were due to ten (2020: ten) largest customers.

The average annual interest rate on term deposits of individual customers outstanding at 31 December 2021
comprised 2.15% (2020: 2.56%), while the average annual interest rate on term deposits of legal andities
outstanding at 31 December 2021 was 3.25% (2020: 4.32%).

Amounts due to customers include accounts with the following types of customers:

0 2020
Privale enlarprises 212 4494 166,048
Individuals 73,225 B3 467
Fublic organizations TG 47
Amounts due to customers 286,424 248 563
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17 Amounts Due to Customaers (Continued)

An analysis of customer accounts by economic sector follows:

iy a0zo
Trade 180,128 126,915
Individuals 73,225 B3 46T
Real estals constructons 16,758 23,841
Insurance and other financial institutions 1,269 3,669
Transport and communication 11,887 T3
Siate and public organizations 3,160 4315
Amounts due o cusiomers 06424 248,563

Refer to Mote 24 for the disclosure of tha fair value of each class of customer accounts. Information an relabed
party balances is disclosed in Note 25.

18 Share Capital

As at 31 December 2021 number of ordinary shares are 2, 760,035,194 (2020: 2.760,035,194). All ordinary
shares have a nominal value of 002 per share denominated in Azerbaijani Manals and rank equally. Each
share cares one vola.

The share capital of the Bank was contributed by the shareholders in Azerbaijani Manats and they are
entitied to dividends and any capital distribution in Azerbaijani Manats.

Al 31 December 2021 and 2020, the share capital of the Bank was, as follows:

Number of Total nominal valua of
outstanding pald-in and reglstered
ordinary shares ordinary

...... - shares
31 December 2020 2,7689,035,194 55,381
Mew shares issued - &
31 December 2021 2,T68,035,154 55,381

19 Commitments and Contingencies

Legal proceedings. In the ordinary course of business, the Bank s subject o legal actions and complaints.
Management believes that the ultimate lability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have
a material adverse eflect on the financial condition or the results of future operations of the Bank.

Tax contingencies. Azerbaljani tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations,
and changes, which can occur frequently. Management's interpretation of such legislation as applied to
the fransactions and activity of the Bank may be challenged by the relevant authorities. Recen! events within
Azerbaijan sugges! that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive position in its interpretation of
the legislation and assessments and, as a result, it is possible that ransactions and activities thal have not
been challenged in the past may be challenged. As such, significant addilional laxes, penalties and interest
may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open o review by the authorities in respect of taxes for threa
calendar yvears preceding the vear of review.

Management believes that as at 31 December 2021 its interpretation of the relevant legisiation is appropriate
and thal the Bank's tax and secial contribution pesition will be sustained.

Compllance with regulatory rafios. The regulalor requires banks fo maintain cerain prudential ratios
computed based on statutory financial statements. As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2000,
the Bank was in compliance with all prudential ratios.
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19 Commitments and Contingencies [Continued)

Credit related commitments. The Bank provides guarantees and letters of credit to customers with primary
purpose of ensuring that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby letters of
credit represent irmevocable assurances that the Bank will maka payments in the event that a customer
cannot meel its obligations to third parties. Documentary and commercial letters of cradit, which are written
undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer autherizing a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to
a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying shipments of
goods, lo which they relate, or cash deposits and, therefore, carry less risk than a direct borrowing.

As at 31 December, the Bank's commitments and contingencies comprised the following:

2024 2020

Undrawn kaan commitmeants B2.511 103,725

Guarantess issued 12,278 10,913

Letters of crodit 745 2124

Total loan commitments 95,573 116,762
Less - cash held as secivily agains! commilmants |3, 798) (3,783)

Total credit related commitments, net of provision and cash covered
BYpOEUras B1,775 112,875

Most of the outstanding guarantee letters as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 represent guarantees issued
ta clients for the letlers’ performance on delivering goods and services, and tender guarantees issued to
clents as a pledge of therr intent to parlicipate in a boiding tender, annourced by various insutions

20 Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and axpanse comprises:
In thvowsands of Azerbadan Manals 2021 2020
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method

Loans and advances to customers 16,288 18,038
Amounts due from credit institulions 461 2,256
Imvesiment securites at AC 1,128 1,374
Total interest income 17878 21,668
Interest expense

Amounls dus bo customers: (1,00 ) {1,502)
Amounts due o cradit nstitutions {380) [218)
Total interast expenss (1,384) {1,720)
Other similar expense

Leasea liabilites [327) [E30)
Taotal other similar expense (32T} (330}
Total interest and other similar expensa (1,711} (2,050)
Het margin on interest 16,167 19,618
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21 Met Fee and Commission Income

Net fee and cOMMISSION INCOME COMPrISes:

2021 2020
Plastic card opesations 3,538 3,242
Settiements operations 3212 3102
Cash operations 1,600 1,516
Guarantees and letters of credi are o946
Agent activities 250 206
Other 48 94
Fes and commission incomea 8,084 8,708
Plastic card operations {4,038) (3,281)
Setlernents operations (1.049) {1,045)
Agant activities {108 (81)
Guaranbess and latiers of cradit {1} (7
Other (274) (301)
Fee and commission expense (5.472) [4,715)
Net fee and commission income 3,612 3,801

22 Payroll, General and Administrative Expenses

2021 2020
Salarias and bonusas 7084 7505
Soclal security cosls 845 1,082
Other employes benafits arg T35
Payroll expenses 8,957 832

Ganeral and adminisirative expenses comprise:

2021 020
Depraciabion and amartization 3,863 4,430
Cepreciation charge on right of use assals 2,280 2217
Support expenses 1,538 1,670
Repairs and Maintenans ard =5[]
Security 240 Bo2
Communications BEa BE3
Legal and consullancy 819 1.002
Marketing and advedising 529 442
Litilitias 204 277
Cperating taxes other than income tax 287 214
Losses on disposal of fixed assets and intangible assols 127 13
Office supplies L 61
Donations a1 147
insurance 21 k]
Entertainment 4] 26
Fings, penallies, and forfaits 27 (i3
Memisership 32 106
Barsiness travel i 4
Other axpensas 631 B5T
General and administrative expenses 13,636 14,041
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23 Financial Risk Management

Risk is inherenl in the Bank's activiies and managed through a process of ongoing identification,
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other confrols. This process of risk management is
critical to the Bank's sustainability and profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for
the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Bank is exposed lo credit risk, liquidity risk,
market risk and operating risks.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment,
technology and industry. They are monitored through the Bank's strategic planning process

Risk management structure. The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for identifying and condralling
risks; howaver, ihere are separate independent bodies responsibla for managing and moniloring risks,

Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for
approving the risk sirategies and principles.

Management Board. The Managemeni Board has the responsibility to monitor the overall rigk process
within the Bank.

Risk Committee. The Risk Committee has the overall responsibility for the development of the risk stralegy
and implementing principles, frameworks, policies and limits. It is responsible for the fundamental risk issues
and manages and manitors relevant risk decisions.

Risk Management Unit. The Risk Management Unit is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk
related procedures to ensure an independent control process

Risk Controlling Unit. The Risk Controlling Unit is responsible for monitoring compliance with risk principles,
policias and limits, across the Bank. Each business group has a decentralized unit which is respansible for
the independent controd of risks, Including monitoring the risk of exposures against limits and the assessment
of risks of new products and structured transactions. This unit also ensures the complate capture of the risks
in risk measurement and reporting systems.

Bank Treasury. Bank Treasury is responsible for managing the Bank’s assets and Habiliies and the overall
financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for the funding and liguidity risks of the Bank,

Internal Audit. Risk management processes throughout the Bank are audited annually by the internal audit
function that examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Bank's compliance with the procedures.,
Internal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with management, and reports its findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committea.

Risk measurement and reporting sysfems. The Bank's risks are measured using a method which reflects
both the expected logss lkely to arise in normal circumstances and unexpected losses, which are an astimate
of the ultimate actual loss based on statistical models. The models make use of probabilities derived from
historical experience, adjusted to reflect the economic environmeni. The Bank also rung worst case
scenaros thal would arise in the event that extreme events which are unlikely to occur do, in fact, occur,

Monitoring and conirolling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Bank, These limils
reflect the business sirategy and market environment of the Bank as well as the level of risk that the Bank is
witling to accepl, with additional emphasis on selected industries. In addition the Bank monitors and
measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks types
and activilias.

Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyze, control and
identify early risks. On a regular basis detailed reporting of industry and customaer risks takes place.

Excessive risk concentration. Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in
similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that
would cause their ability o meet contraciual obligations 1o be similarly affecled by changes in economic,
paolitical or other conditions, Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank's performance to
developments affecting a particular industry.

In order o avoid excessive concenirations of risks, the Bank's policies and procedures include specific
guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credi risks are controlled
and managed accordingly.
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23 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Credit risk. The Bank exposes itself to credit risk, which is the risk that one party 1o a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to meet an obligation.

Exposure to credit risk anises as a result of the Bank's lending and other ransactions with counterparties,
giving rise to financial assets and off-balance sheet credit-related commitments.

The Bank's maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the camying amounts of financial assets in the
statement of finencial position. For financial guarantees issued, commitments o extend credit, undrawn cradit
lines and exportiimport letters of credit, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the amount of the commitment.

Credit-ralated commitments risks. The Bank offers guarantees to its customers which may require that
the Bank makes payments on their behalf. Such payments are collecied from custiomers based on the terms
of the letter of credit, They expose the Bank to risks similar to loans and these are mitigated by the same
control processes and polickes. The maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of
financial position, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral agreements,
is best represented by their carrying amounts.

Credil quality per class of financial assets. The credit guality of financial assels s managed by the Bank
internal credit ratings. The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for loan-related lines in the
statement of financial position, based on the Bank's credit rating system.

The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing 1o accept for
individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in
relation fo such limits,

The Bank has established a credit quality review process fo provide early identification of possible changes
in the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. Counterparty limits are
established by the use of a credit risk classification system, which assigns each counterparty a risk rating at
initiation. The Bank actively uses collateral to reduce its credil risks.

Expected credit loss (ECL) is a profability-weighted estimate of the present value of future cash shortfalls
(i.e., Ihe weighted average of credit losses, with the respective risks of default occurring in a given time period
used as weights). An ECL measurement s unbiased and is determined by adjusting risk of defaull to the
expectations on development of macroeconomic siuation in fulure, ECL measurement iz based on four
components used by the Bank: Probability of Default ("PD"), Exposure at Default ("EAD"), Loss Given Default
(LD} and Discount Rate.

Default definition and Stage 3 criteria. The Bank defines default as a siluation when the exposure meets
the following criteria:

+  The lpan was 90+ days overdue al any paint within the considered fime horizon
»  The customer has a wrilten-off loan;

Expected credit losses are modelled over instrument's lifetime period. The iifetime period is equal to the
remaining contractual period to maturity of dabl instruments, adjusted for expected prepayments, if any. For
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, it is the contractual period over which an antity has a
present contractual obligation to extend credil. As a matter of exceplion from determining the Ifetime
exposure based on contractual maturity, for credit cards issued to individuals, the lfetime exposure is
measured over a period that is based on expecied life of the credit card contracts, based on infernal stafistics,
and i is equal on average o 1 1o 5 years.

Management models Lifetime ECL, that is, losses that result from all possible defaull events over the
remaining lifetime period of the financial instrument. The 12-month ECL, represents a portion of lifetime ECLs
that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
period, or remaining Ifefime peripd of the financial Instrument if i is less than a vear.

The Bank has three approaches for ECL measurement: (i) assessment on an individual basis; (il) assessment
on a portfolio basis: internal ratings are estimated on an individual basis but the sarme credit risk parameters
(e.g. PD, LGD) will be applied during the process of ECL calculations for the same credil risk ratings and
homogeneous segments of the loan portfolio; and (iii) assessment based on external ratings.
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23 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

The lawvel of ECL that is recognised in these financial statements depends on whether the credil risk of the
borrower has incressed significantly since initial recognition. This is a three-stage model for ECL
measurement. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition and its credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition has a credit loss allowance based on 12-month ECLs
{Stage 1). if a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 2 but is
not yet deemed to be credit-impaired and the loss allowance is based on iifetime ECLs. i a financial
instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 3 and loss allowance Is based on
lifatimea ECLs.

If there is evidence that the SICR criteria are no longer met, the instrument is transferred back to Stage 1. If
an exposure has been fransferred to Stage 2 based on a qualitative indicator, the Bank monitors whether
that indicator continues 1o exist or has changed.

Leaving default status depends on which defaulted triggers exposure expenenced during its defaull. Number
of scenarios can be limited to two:

« if exposure experignced only more than 50 days past due then it's no longer considered as default
wien it reaches 30 days delinguency;

# if exposure experienced also other default triggers then o leaves defaull stalus when it no longer
meets any of the default criteria for a consecutive pariod of sk months;

This logic has been determined based on an analysis that considers the likelihood of a financial instrument
returning to default status after curing by using different possible definitions of cures

ECL measurement for financial guarantees and loan commitments, The ECL measurement for these
instruments includes the same steps as described above for on-balance sheet exposures and differs with
respect 1o EAD calculation. The EAD is a product of credit conversion factor ("CCF™) and amount of the
commitment ["Ex0ff"). CCF for undrawn credit lnes of corporate customers, credit cards issued o
individuals and for financial guarantees is defined based on statistical analysis of pas! exposures al defaull.
CCF for overdrafts is defined as 1008 since the limils can be used by the cuslomers at any time.

Internal ratings. For purpose of PD modeling simplified behavioural scoring models were created and
developed fo differentiate the risk profile of an individual exposune.

Credit scoring is an instrument widely used by companies for the internal processes of portfolio risk
measurement and management. Scoring can be defined in general as a statistical technigue 1o predict, at a
spacific point in time with the available information, the probability of a future event. More specifically it
allows banks fo estimate the probabdity of defaull of a person requesting credit (then application scoring
model is usually used) or a customer already in the portfolio (behavioural scoring model).

The main assumplion for scoring model development is that the past behaviour is a good predictor for the
future, thus models are developed based on historical data. In particular, behavioural models are leveraging
the information regarding pas! delinquency, historical credit utilization, history of payments or collection
actons. In practice, credit scoring results in the definition of a table [Bling the characteristics thal provide the
most predictive information together with the associated atiributes and weightings. A total score is obtained
a5 the sum of the points for each characteristic.

Ratings, which were created base on score values, gather exposures with similar risk profile. Therefore
PDs are estimated on homogenies risk groups (i.e. per segment and rating).

External ratings. External ratings are assigned to counterparties by independent international rating
agencies, such as S&F, Moody's and Fitch. These ratings are publicly available. Such ratings and the
corresponding range of PD are applied for the following financial instruments: amounts due from the CBAR,
balances on correspondent accounts including overnight deposits and deposits.
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Master scale credit risk grade Cormesponding ratings of Comesponding PD intarval
external international rating
agencies (S&P)
Excallent AAA to BB+ 0,01% - 0.5%
Good BE to B+ 0.51% - 3%
Salisfactony B, B- 3% - 10%
Special monitonng CCC+ o CC- 10% - 99.9%
Default G, D1, D-11 100%

Each masler scale credit risk grade is assigned a specific degree of creditworthiness:

*  Excellen! — strong credil quality with low expected credit risk;

* Good - adequate credit quality with a moderate credit risk;

= Salisfactory — moderale credit quality with a satisfactory credit risk;
Special moniloring - facilities thal require closer monitoring and remedial management: and
o Dofaull - faciliies in which a defaull has ocourred,

External ratings are assigned to counterparties by independent international rating agencies, such as S&P,
Moody's and Fitch. These ratings are publicly available,

Probability of defauit (PD). PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default to occur over a given time period.
For every exposure is estimated lifetime PD curve which is dependant from time, credit risk rating and
segment. 12-month PD is calculated as part of lifetime PD curve. Two types of PDs are used for calculating
ECLs: 12-month and lifetime PD. An assessment of a 12-month PD is based on the latest available historic
default data and adjusted for supportable forward-looking information when appropriate. Lifetime PDs
represent ihe esuiawed probability of a default occurring over the remaining Iife of the financial instrument
and it Is 3 sum of the 12 months PDs aver the |ife of the instrument.

FDs for each segment were defined on a collective basis as the proportion of loans which defaulted within
a year of the considered date. This proportion is measured for every month in the observation window for
the regression. Default migration is identified on a customer basis. Stage 1 and Stage 2 assets are modelied
together using interceplt and slope dummy variables. The Bank normalizes stage1 and stage 2 default rates
by dividing them with their respeclive averages 1o avoid overfit due to dummies and regress relative default
rates on growth rales of macroeconomic variables and their lags over the horizon of the default rate.
Bayesian Information Criteria ("BIC") have been used for variable selection as Akaike's Information Criteria
{("AIC”) tends to overfit in small samples.

Macro-economic factors. Internal bank forecasts provide the best estimate of the expected macro-
economic development aver the next 3 years, After 3 years, no macro-economic impact is used, The impact
of the relevant economic variables on the PD has been determined by performing statistical regression
analysis to understand the impact that the changes in these variables historically had on the default rates.

Asg with any economic forecast, the projections are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty, and
therafore the actual outcomas may be significantly different to those projected. The Bank considers these
forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes.

The Bank used supportable forward-looking information for measurement of ECL, primarily an outcome of
its own macro-economic forecasting model, The most significant forward-looking assumptions that
corralate with ECL level were as follows at 31 December 2021:

Corporate | SME Consumer Residential
Commarcial Maorigage
Variable _ customers
CPl [not inflation) and its lags YES
Morringl o YES
Non-oil sacior real effective exchange rate YES
Raal non-od sector gross domestic product YES

Gross Domestic Product (GOP) and its lags YES
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The goodness of fit has been measured based average Kolmogorov-Smirmnov (KS) test p-values for all growth
rates of the same macroeconomic variable.

For all macroeconomic variables the resulis of the calculation show highest average p-values with “Student's
1" distribution, therefore those results are used for scenario probability generation,

Based on eslimated parameters, 1000 quantiles 0.1% apart have been calculated, their averages converied
into scenarios for the variables. Joint probability tables calculated using Monte Carle simulation to assign
weight for each scenario.

Final POs are reflective of these scenarios and represent probability weighted averages with the weights
siated above.

Loss given default (LGD). LGD Is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It s based on the difference
between the contraciual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive. It is usually
expressed as a percentage of Ihe gross book value. The expected losses are discounted 1o present value at
the end of the reporiing period.

LGD varies by the type of counterparty and product type. The LGDs are delermined based on the factors
that impact the expecled recoveries afler a default event. The calculation of LGD is based on recovery
slatistics.

LGD represents the Bank's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by the type
of counterparty, type and seniority of the claim, and the availability of collateral or other credit support.

The 12-maonth and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors that impact the expecied recoveries
after a default event. The approach to LGD measuremeant can be divided into three possible approaches:

« measuremeant of LGD based on the specific characteristics of the collateral:
# cadculation of LGD on a portfolio basis based on recovery statistics; or
 individually defined LGD depending on different factors and scenarios,

The Bank calculates LGD based on specific characteristics of the collateral, such as projected collateral
values, historical discounts on sales and other faclors for loans secured by real estate, cash and liquid
securities. LGD is calculated on a collective basis based on the latest available recovery statistics for the
remainder of the corporate loan portfolio and for retail secured and unsecured products.

Exposure at default (EAD). EAD is an estimale of exposure at a future default date, taking inlo account
expecied changes in the exposure after the reporting period, including repayments of principal and interest,
and expected drawdowns on commitied facilities.

For revolving products EAD is estimated using Credit Conversion Factor ("CCF"). CCF is a coefficient that
shows the probabiity of conversion of the off-balance amounts 1o an on-balance sheet exposure within a
defined period. CCF s assumed as the maximum (arithmelic average) percentage of conversion of off-
balance amount o balance amount at time of default compared to three-twelve-month prior state, CCF far
financial guarantees is defined based on globally accepted Basel 3 standard,

The EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile that varies by product type. EAD is based
on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower over a 12-month or Iifetime basis for amortising products
and bullet repayment loans, This will also be adjusted for any expected overpayments made by a borrower,
Early repayment or refinancing assumplions are also Incorporated into the calculation. For revolving
products, the EAD is predicted by taking the current drawn balance and adding a "credit conversion facior”
that accounts for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default, These assumptions
vary by product type, current limit utilisation and other borrower-specific behavioural characteristics,
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Staging. The level of ECL thal is recognised in these financial stalements depends on which stage was
assigned (o exposure from @ three stage model. A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on nitial
recogniion and its credit risk has not deteriorated significantly since initial recognition has a credit loss
allowance based on 12-month ECLs (Stage 1). if a stage 2 since initial recognition is identified, the financial
instrument is moved o Stage 2 but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired and the loss allowance is based
an lifetime ECLs. If a financial instrument is credif-impaired, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 3 and
loss allowance is based on lifetime ECLs. The consequence of an assel being in Stage 3 is that the entity
ceases to recognise interest income based on gross carrying value and applies the asset's effective interest
rate to the carrying amount, net of ECL, when calculating interest income.

Significant deterioration in credit risk (Stage 2). The assessment whather or not there has been a
significant detersoration in credi risk (stage 2) since initial recognition is performed on whole portfalio. The
criteria used to identify stage 2 are monitored and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by the Bank's
Risk Management Department. The presumption, being that there have been significant deterioration in
cradit risk since initial recognition when financial assets are more than 30 days past due, has not been
rebutted.

The Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a stage 2 when one or more of the following
quantitative, gualitalive or backsiop criteria have beean met:

= 31-80 days overdue

« Restructured overdue loans

« Non-cash loans returned to cash due o failure of customers to fulfil thelr commitments

* Any other relevant management information on financial situation deterioration on the customer.

If thare is evidence that the stage 2 crileria are no longer met, the instrument is transferred back to Siage 1
if the borrower does not have any other amounts more than 10 days past due during the probation period,
which is defined as six months. The probation period resels whenever loan overdue days exceed 10 days or
loans are re-restructured.

If an exposure has been transferred to Stage 2 based on a qualitative indicator, the Bank monitors whether
that indicalor confinues to apply or it is no longer valid.

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models. The assessmenl of SICR and the
calculation of ECLs both incorporate supportable forward-looking information. The Bank identified certain key
economic varables thal correlate with developments in credi risk and ECLs. Forecasts of economic variables
(the "base economic scenarin”) are provided by the Bank's and provide the best estimate of the expected
macro-econgmic development over thie next three years. The impact of the relevant economic variables on
thé FD. EAD and LGD has been determined by performing statistical regression analysis to understand the
impact that the changes in these variables historically had on the default rates and on the components of
LGD and EAD.

In addition to the base economic scenario, the Bank's Risk Depariment also provides olher possible
scenanos along with scenario weightings. The number of other scenarios used Is set based on the analysis
of each major product type to ensure that non-linearities are captured. The number of scenarios and their
afiributes are reassessed al each reporting date. The scenario weightings are determined by a combination
of statistical analysis and expert credit judgement, taking into account the range of possible outcomes of
which each chosen scenario is representative. The assessment of SICR is performed using the Lifetime PD
under each of the bases and the other scenarios, multiplied by the associaled scenario weighting. along with
qualitative and backstop indicators. This determines whether the whole financial instrument is in Stage 1,
Stage 2, or Stage 3 and hence whether a 12-month or lifetime ECL should be recorded. Following this
assessment, the Bank measures ECL as either a probability-weighted 12 month ECL (Stage 1), or a
probability weighted [Hetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3). Thesa probability-weighted ECLs are delermined by
running each scenario through the relevant ECL model and multiplying it by the appropriate scenario
weighting (as opposed to weighting the inpuls).
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As with any economic forecast, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject 1o a high degree of
inherent uncertainty, and therefore the actual cutcomas may be significantly different to those projected. The
Bank considers these forecasts lo represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and has analysed
the nondinearities and asymmetries within the Bank's different portfolios to establish that the chosen
SCEManos are appropriately representative of the range of possible scenarios,

The Bank regularly reviews its methodology and assumptions to reduce any difference between the
estimates and the aclual loss of credit. Such backtesting is performed at least once a year.

The results of backlesting the ECL measurement methodology are communicated to Bank Management and
further steps for tuning models and assumptions are defined after discussions between authorised persons.

The geographical concentration of the Bank's monetary assets and labilties is sel out below:

2081 _ .
Azerbaijan QECD CI5 and Total Azerbaijan QECD CiI5and Total
other other
foreign foreign
countries countries
Assety
Cash and cash
equivalants 161,170 27079 14,676 202925 BT 235 83,612 2693 183,540
Amounts dua from credil
insSilutions 10,100 12 276 - 22,378 1,750 6,131 3579 11,460
Loans 1o cusiomers 145,574 - - 145,579 125, 6683 - = 125883
Nobes issued by CBAR
and other bonds 13,505 - - 13,505 23,096 - - 23,088
Oither financial assats 3,030 - - 3,038 287 - - 2,071
Total assels 337,393 39,3158 14,676 381423 240,735 00, T43 8,272 348,750
Liabilities
Amounts due 1o cradit
institutions 20,207 L = 20,207 11,872 = - 11.972
Ampunts due o
customens 2B6.424 - -  2BB6.424 249,583 = - 248,563
Qther fimandial Eabatios 14,704 = - 14,704 T - = 7.781
Total Habilities 321,335 - 324,335 265, 318 = - 269,316
Met assetsf{liabilities) 16,058 39,355 14,676 70,088 {28,581) 88,743 6,272 77434

Liguidity risk and funding management

Ligquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will be unable to meat its payment obligations when they fall due under
normal and stress circumstances. To limit this risk, management has developed a sophisticated system for
comprehensive assessment of expected cash flows. The methodology of the liquidity management tools and
reports is approved by the Supervisory Board of the Bank, prepared by the Assets and Liabilities
Managemenl depariment and reviewed on the monthly basis by Asset Liabilites Commithes.

The Bank maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can be easily liquidaled in
the event of an unforeseen interruplion of cash flow. Additionally, the Bank maintains obligatory reserve with
the CBAR and utilizes a highly eflective cash management syslem across all ils branches, ATMs and
balances of the correspondent accounts.
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The liquidity position is assessed and managed by the Bank primarily on a standalone basis, based on
minimum liquidity ratio of 30% established by the CBAR. As at 31 December, these ratios were as follows:

2021 2020

Instant Liquidity Ratio T3.56% 63.33%

The Bank closely monitors potential effects of the pandemic and lower oil price on the liquidity situation in an
alert phase. The deposit rales are adjusted timely with respect to the changes in interest rates and overall
Banking sector liquidity situation. Client transactions are carried out by considering possible liquidity effects,
including the crediting process.

The Bank has nol experienced a critical liquidity situation in 2021 due to actions laken by alert liquidity phase
and expects that liquidity condition will improve further in 2022, thanks to the expected normalization of the
economic and financial conditions in the country.

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining conlraciual maturities. The tables below summarize the maturity
profile of the Bank's financial liabilities at 31 December based on confractual undiscounted repayment
obligations. Repayments which are subjected to notice are treated as if nolice were o be given immediately.
However, the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Bank
could be required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Bank's
deposit retention history,

Less than 31012months  1toSyears  Over 5 years Total
As at 31 December 2021 3 months
Financial liabilities
Amounis due o cnedi
institutions 1,669 2,575 G, 355 15,085 25734
Amounis due b customers 268,835 T.B73 10,704 QBT 406
Criher financial liabililes 2,779 1,755 5,492 4678 14,704
Total undiscounted
financial liabilities 273,283 12,203 &3.588 18,773 32T.BAT
Less than 3 to 12 months 1o Syears  Ower 5 yoars Total
As at 31 December 2020 4 months
Financial liabilities
Amounts dus to credit
Institutions 455 1.295 6,470 13673 21,902
Amounts due to customars 234 204 T,560 19,207 ar 251,008
Cither Rinancial liabilites 2634 1,435 2414 1,298 7.7T81
Total undiscounted
financial liabilities 227,383 10,280 28,100 15,008 280,781

The table below shows the confractual expiry by maturity of the Bank's financial commitments and
conlingencies. Each undrawn loan commitment is included in the time band containing the earliest date it
can be drawn down. For issued financial guaranies confracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is
allocated to the earliest period in which the guaraniee could be called,

Less than 3 to 12 months 1io Syears  Ower 5 yoars Total
3 months 5
202 6,031 8,714 50,933 20,885 85,573
2020 4,851 8,080 68,501 35,320 116,762
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The Bank expects that not all of the contingent liabdlities or commitments will be drawn before expiry of
the commitmenis.

The Bank's capability to repay its Rabilities relies on its ability to realize an equivalent amount of assets within
the same perod of lime.

The Bank does not récehve any significant funds from any one organization or private individual.
Included in due to customers are term deposits of individuals. In accordance with the Azerbaijan legislation,
the Bank is obliged 10 repay such deposits upon demand of a depositor. Refer to Note 17 .

The Bank does not use the above maturity analysis based on undiscounted contraciual maturities of liabilities
to manage lquidity. Instead, the Bank menitors expected maturities and the resulting expected liquidity gap
as follows:

Less than Ite 12 1t0 5 Over & Total
imonths  months years years
&t 31 December 2021
Financial assals 283,548 71,036 18,488 16473 391,423
Financip liabilithes 274,595 11,482 202115 15,043 321,335
Met liguidity gap based on expected
maturities 8,853 G0, 454 (T42) 1,430 0,088
At 31 Decembear 2020
Financial assala 268,480 42 758 22,740 12,772 346,750
Financial Eabiios 227 A0 9487 22 028 9,432 264 316
Met liquidity gap basod on expacted
maturities 41,011 ek | {188} 3,340 77434

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or fulure cash flows of financial instruments will flucluate due to
changes in markel variables such as inlerest rates and foreign exchanges. The Bank does not have any
significant equity, corporate fixed income or derivatives holdings.

Interest rate risk Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in inlerest rates will affect future

cash flows or the fair values of financial instruments. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Bank did not
have any instrumenis with floating interest rates.

Currency risk is defined as the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due o changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Bank is exposed 1o the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency
exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows.
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The table below summanses the Bank's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the and of the
reparling period:

At 31 Decembear 2021 At 31 December 2020

Maonatary Monetary Nat Monetary Monetary
financlal financial sition financial financlal &t position
assets liabilities P AREELE liabilities
Azarbaljani
Manats 267 685 (191.325) 76,360 191,261 (126,248) #5013
US Dollars a7 461 {104, 497) (7.038) 110,662 (112.507) (1,845}
Euros 24,100 (23.434) 846 22,805 (28,230) (5.425)
ittt 2177 (2.079) 98 72,022 (2,331) 19,691
Total 391,423 {321,335) 70,088 344,750 [268.316) TT,434

The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Bank had significant exposure at 31 December on its
non-trading monetary assets and liabilities and is forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of
a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against AZN, with all other variables held constant on
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (due 1o the fair value of currency sensilive
non-trading monetary assets and liabilties). The effect on equity does not differ from the effect on
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. A negative amount in the table reflects a
potential net reduction in statement of profit or loss or equity and other comprehensive income, while a
positive amount reflects a net potential increase

Increasa in Effect on profit Increase in Effect on profit

curmency rate in % befors tax currency rabe In % before tax

Currency 2021 2021 2020 2020

usD 10,00 (70 10.00 {185)

EUR 10.00 67 10,00 (543)

Decrease in Effect on profit Decrease in Effect on profit

currency rate in % before tax currency rate in % before tax

Currency il | 2021 2020 2020
UsD {10000 04 {10,000 165
ELR {1000 (BT} { 10.00) 543

Operational risk. Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or
external events. When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal
of regulatory implications, or lead fo financial loss. The Bank cannol expect to eliminate all operational risks,
but a control framework and monitoring and responding to potential risks could be effective tools to manage
the risks. Controls should include effective segregation of duties, access, authorization and reconciliation
procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit,
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Fair value measurament usin
Date of Quoted  Significant  Significant Total
valuation prices  observable unobservable
in active inputs In
markets [Level 2) (Lewal 3)
[Lﬂ'ﬂ'ﬂ 1)
Assets for which fair values are
disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents 31 Decembar 2021 16,898 185,026 202,924
Armounts des from cradit
institutions 31 December 2021 - 22378 - 22376
Loans io cuslomers 31 Decamber 2021 = - 147,115 147115
Motes issued by CBAR and othaer
bonds 31 Decarmber 2021 13,268 - 239 13,505
Other financial assels 31 Docamber 2021 - 3,039 . 3,03
Liabilities for which fair values
are disclosed
Amounts due 1o credit instilutians 31 Decembar 2021 = 20,207 = 20,207
Amounis due io cusiomans 31 Dacembar 2021 - 2E5,338 - 285,336
Daher financial Eabifitios 31 Decembear 2021 = 14,704 - 14 704
Fair value measurement usi
Date of Cuoted Significant Significani Total
valuation prices  observable uncbservable
in active i inputs
markets (Lewvel 2) (Level 3)
iLavel 1)
Assels for which fair values are
disclosed
Cash and cash equivalants 3 Daceambear 2020 183,540 = - 183 540
Amouns due from credsi
institutions 31 December 2020 = 11,460 - 11,460
Loans to customears 31 Decembar 2020 - = 120,553 120,553
Motes issued by CBAR and other
broniks 3 Decembear 2030 23,036 = &0 23,096
Othar financlal assets 31 December 2030 - - 24871 2.871
Liabilities for which fair values
are disclosed
Armounts duee to credit Institutions 31 Decamber 2020 - 11,872 11,4972
Amounts dwe to cushemers 31 Decamber 2020 = = 247,255 247 265
Cither financial liabiliies 31 Decamber 2020 = = 7.781 T.781

Fair value of fimancial assets and liabilities not carried af far value. Sel out below is a comparison by class
of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank's financial instruments that are not carried at fair value in
the statement of financial position. The table does not include the fair values of non-financial assets and non-

financial liabilities,
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Carrying value Fair walue Unrecognized
2021 ﬂ'l'“ﬂ.l“.j
Financial aesais
Cash and cash equivalents 202 524 22 024 =
Amounts due from credit institutions 22,378 22,378 =
Loans io cusiomers 148,518 147,115 (2 d64)
Invastmants in debl and equity securities 13,505 13,505 .
Cher financial assels 3,039 3039 -
Flnanclal Nabilittes
Amounts due to credil instiulions 20,207 20207 -
Amounts due 1o cuslomers 286 424 285,336 1,088
Other financial Babilities 14,704 14,704 -

Carrying valus Fair valug Unrecognized
2020 gain{loss)
Financial assets
Cash and cash eqguivalents 183,540 183,540 -
Amoamnts due from credit institutions 11,480 11,480 -
Loans i cusionmiErs 125,683 120,553 {5,130)
Invasimants in dabl and equity securities 23,006 23,096 .
Oither financial assats 24971 2071 -
Financial Habilities
Amounts due b cresdit instiubons 11,872 11.872 -
Amounts dus b customans 240 583 247 255 2,308
Ciher financial liabilities T. 781 T.781 -

Assels for which fawr value approximales carrying walue. For financial assets and financial liabililes that are
liquid or having a short-term maturity (less than three months) it s assumed that the carrying amounts
approximalte to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and savings accounts
without a specific maturity.

Financial assels and financial Nabiilies carried at amortized cost. Fair value of the quoled notes is based on
price guotations at the reporting date. The fair value of unquoted instruments, loans 10 CUSIOMBRS, CUslOMar
deposits, amounts due from credit institutions and amounts due lo credil institutions and other financial assets
and liabdlities ks estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently available for debt on similar
ferms, credit risk and remaining maturities,

In accordance with |AS 24 Related Parly Disclosures, parties are considered to be redated if one party has
the abdlity to comirol the other parly or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial
or operational declsions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to
the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.

Related parlies may enter inle fransactions which unrelated parties might not, and fransaclions between
redated parties may nol be effected on the same terms, condifions and amounis as fransaclions bebween
unrelaied parties,

YKB and KF3 direclly and indirectly control and have significant influence over a significant number of
antites. The Bank enters into banking transactions with these entities including but not limited 1o lending,
deposit taking, cash,
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The outstanding balances of related party fransactions are as follows:

2021 N 2020
Parent Entities under Parent Entitles under
COImimicn COmmon
control controd
Amounts due from credit institutions
outstanding at 1 January, gross 2,288 3 1,360 =
Dreposits placed duning the year = = 1,138 =
Deposit repayments during the year - = (2.498) -
Mel movemant in curment accounis {1.,6552) {3} 2,289 3
Translation gainloss - - (1 -
Amounts due from credit Institutions
outstanding at 31 December, gross TIG - 2,288 3
Less: aflowance Tor impairment 81 31 Decembgr (7} - (3T -
Amounts due from credit institutions
outstanding at 31 Decembser, net TH = 2,251 3
Currant accounts at 31 Decarmber Ti8 - 2,288 3

Total current accounts with the parent as al 31 December 2021 Is AZN 736 (2020. AZN 2,268). There wasn't
placemant during the year with parent (2020: AZN 1,138 with 0.25%) and with entities under commaon control
{2020 nil).

The income and expense arising from relaled parly transactions are as follows:

2021 2020
Parent Entities under Parent Entities under
COMmmon Comman
control cantral
Interis] income - Fit - -
Interest expense - i4) - 39)
Fes and commission moome - 41 - &2
Fs and commission expensa (107) - (28 (1)
General and administrative expenses (156) (720) (213) {477)
Compensation of key management personnel of 3 members (2020: 4 members) comprised the following:
0 2020
Salaries and shorl term benalis 1,402 1,185
Oither accrued amalyes cosis &0 Té
Total key management personnal compensation 1,482 1.211
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26  Capital Adequacy

The objectives of management when managing the Bank's capital are () to comply with the capital
requirements set by Regulatory, (ii) to safeguard the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern and (iii) to
maintain strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximize
shareholders’ value. Compliance with capital adequacy ratios set by the Regulatory is monitored menthly
with reports outlining their calculation reviewed and signed by the Bank's Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Accountant. The other objectives of capital management are evaluated annually,

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjusiments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Bank may adjust the amount of dividend payment o shareholders or refurn capital to shareholdars. No
changes wera made in the objectives, policies and processes from the pravious years.

The Regulatory requires each bank or banking group to: (a) hold the minimum level of tolal capital of AZN
90,000 (2020: AZN 50,000); (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets
(the “total capital ratio”) at or above the prescribed minimum of 10% (2020: 10%) and (c) maintain a ratio of
tier 1 capital lo the risk-weighted assets (the “Tier 1 capital ratio”) at or above the prescribed minimum of 5%
(20:20: 5%).

Management believes that the Bank was in compliance with the statutory capital adequacy ratio throughout
2021,

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank's capital adequacy ratio based on the Regulatory requirements was as
follows:

2021 2020
Tier 1 capital 79,502 78,8969
Ther 2 capital 2447 2,955
Less: deductions from capital (7.746) {8,152)
Taotal regulatory capital T 74203 73,772
Risk-weighted assels 217,946 167,521
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 30T 42, 31%
Total capilal adeguacy ratio 34000 44, 04%

27  Ewents after the End of the Reporting Period

COVID-19 developments. The strict special quaranline regime measures introduced by the Azerbaijani
Government 10 combal the COVID-18 outbreak, such as travel restrictions, quarantines, closure of business
and olher venues, lockdowns of ceriain areas throughout the couniry ceased in January 2021. Based on the
order of Cabinet of Ministers on "Vaccination Strategy covering 2021-2022 years” dated 16 January 2021,
gradual vaccination of Azerbaijan population has started.

Capital adequacy ratics were maintained al a level higher than regulatory minimums as of the date of
issuance of these financial stalements. Sensitivity analysis shows that existing capital buffers give a
confidence o absorb the risks that could appear from further evolution of COVID results.

Legislative changes. According to the newly introduced article 2.1.2.7 to law on deposit Insurance starting
from 2021 the funds of sole entreprenaurs in the amount of up to AZN 20 000 held at banks are also to be
insured by banks, increasing thereby the basis for quarterly fee payable by banks o Azerbaijan Deposit
Insurance Fund (ADIF) for deposit insurance. Also, starting from 2021, according 1o the enclosed letter from
ADIF the quarterly fee is raised by 0.05% of the volume of insured deposits per quarter {or 0.2% annually}.

Because of COVID-18 pandemic CBAR infroduced walver package and allowed the banks to keep provision
calegories of the loans for regulatory purpose, which were restructured because of pandemic effects, equal
to 1 March 2020 levels. This waiver was lifted on 1 April 2021 and banks will update their provision categories
according to current rules considering their repayment behaviors,




Yapi Kredi Bank Azerbaifan CJSC
Notes fo the Financial Statements — 31 December 2029
{(Amounts expressed in thousands of Azerbajjani Manats)

T Events after the End of the Reporting Period (Continued)

On 24 February 2022, the government of the Russian Federation launched an unprovoked attack on Ukraine,
The hostile act has been globally condemned and has resulted in numerous actions taken against the
Russian Federation and support for Ukraine,

Due to conflict betwean Russia and Ukraine the Bank withdrew AZM 6 120 thousand deposil amount in 31
March 2022 placed in Ish Bankasi Russia (with original maturity in December 2022). There are no other
significant term deposil or current account balances held al Russian banks,

There is no significant exposure to Russian or Ukrainian market with regard to remaining financial
instruments, including loans to customers and amounts due to custormers. Therefore. the Bank does nol
expect deterioration of loan or deposit portfolio, or corresponding increase in ECL,




